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Q. Will you examine Defendants' Chall~n~e Exhibit 
No. 63 for identification, and state whether 1t 1s the map 
referring to the jury panel of November 15, 1948, con­
cerning which you have testified~ .A. This is the map. 

Q. And was it prepared in the same manner as ~our 
testimony indicates as to the others already received 
( 1921) in evidence~ .A. Yes. 

Q. To the questions I have asked you concerning the 
maps previously received in evidence would your answers 
if I were to repeat those questions be the same~ A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence, your 
Honor. 

Mr. McGohey: With the same reservation, no 
objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 63 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. Was a map made for any other panel dated during 
the year 1948 ~ .A. Yes, there is a map for December '7, 
1948. 

Q. That is to say, a map made in respect of a jury panel 
list, petit jury panel list, drawn to serve in this court 
commencing December 7, 1948; is that right~ A. That is 
correct. 

Q. Will you examine No. 64 for identification and state 
whether it is the map referring to a jury panel list drawn 
to serve in this, court as of December 7, 1948, to which 
your testimony just given refers~ A. This is the map 
(1922) that was made. 

Q. Was this map prepared in the same manner as you 
have indicated the others were prepared~ A. Yes. 

Q. And to t.he questions that I have asked you concern­
ing the other maps, if I were to put those same questions 
to you concerning this rna p, would your answers be the 
same~ A. They would. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence. 
Mr. McGohey: With the same reservation, no 

objection. 
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(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 64 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, the trial of this case was sched­
uled to commence as of the 17th of January 1949. Was 
a map prepared to represent pictorially the location of the 
residences of the petit jurors in Manhattan and Bronx des­
ignated to serve on the panel for that day~ A. There was 
such a map prepared. 

Q. In all of the questions I have asked you concern­
ing the residence and addresses of the jurors, am I cor­
rect in understanding that these maps show such addresses 
as (1923) taken from the lists of the jury clerk~ A. 
That is right. 

Q. In other words, whatever is shown on the clerk's 
own lists as to the addre·ss of the juror was accepted 
and used on the map, is that right~ A. Yes. 

Q. Now, would you examine No. 65 for identification 
and state whether it is the map, referring to a panel drawn 
to serve January 17, 1949, in this court, concerning which 
you have testified~ A. This is the map. 

Q. Was it prepared in the same manner as you have 
indicated the others were? A. Yes. 

Q. And to the questions I have asked concerning those 
other maps, if I were to repeat them, would your answers 
be the same? A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it, your Honor. 
Mr. McGohey: With the same reservation, no 

objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 65 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, on this map I notice that there are 
two types of pins, those with a red colored head and those 
that are black in color, and in this respect this is the first 
map brought into court that uses two colors of pins. Will 
you explain the reason for that? A. This map was initial-
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ly made on the basis of the first list of jurors drawn for 
the January 17th panel, (1924) 1949. 

Q. And which pins represent the addresses as shown 
on the jury clerk's lists of the jurors in l\!Ianhattan and 
the Bronx for that panel~ A. The red pins indicate where 
the jurors live as indicated on the jury lists in the first 
listing for January 17, 1949. 

Q. All right. vVhat do the black pins represenU A. 
When we learned that there was a second listing for this 
panel, January 17, 1949, we obtained that list-you did for 
me-and we likewise plotted the residences of the jurors 
in that second listing, indicating the difference by using 
this time black pins. 

Q. So that, in other words, as I understand your tes­
timony, the red pins indicating locations of the residences 
of jurors in Manhattan and Bronx, as shown on the clerk's 
list first selected and announced to serve for January 17, 
1949~ A. That is right. 

Q. And the black pins represent the location of the 
addresses of jurors in l\f.anhattan and Bronx as shown 
by a second drawing or panel which was obtained later 
in time and which was announced as supplementing the 
regular or first listing~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Now, to the questions I have asked you concern­
ing the manner in which previous maps already received 
in ( 1925) evidence were prepared, your answers, if I 
were to repeat those questions, would be the same, I take 
it f A. That is correct. 

Q. If I were to ask you concerning the accuracy of the 
map, concerning the manner of preparation, and all of the 
other questions I have asked you concerning maps ad­
mitted in evidence, your answers would be the same if I 
were to repeat those with respect to this map, is that right? 
A. Yes. 

l\f.r. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence, your 
Honor. 

The Witness: Prior to the presentation of the 
first map you asked a question that I said I would 
illustrate when we had the map before us. Would 
you like me to illustrate that now 1 
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Mr. Gladstein: First I want to have it received 
in evidence, Mr. Wilkerson, and then I will ask you 
something about that. 

Mr. McGohey: With the same reservation, no 
objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 65 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. Is there something particular you desire to point 
out about this map~ A. No. 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, when there was made available 
(1926) a list from the clerk's office of the panel of petit 
jurors called to serve, commencing February 1, 1949, was 
a map prepared in respect of that panel~ A. A map was 
prepared. 

Q. Will you examine No. 66 for identification and state 
if that is the map to which your last answer referred 1 A. 
This is the rna p. 

Q. Was it prepared in the same manner as you have 
testified concerning the maps previously received in evi­
dence~ A. It was. 

Q. And with respect to its accuracy, the source of the 
information shown on the map-that is to say, the ad­
dresses taken from the jury clerk's official list, and with 
respect to the other aspects of the maps, if I were to ask 
you the same questions I have asked concerning the maps 
previously admitted in evidence, would your answers con­
cerning this particular exhibit for identification be the 
same~ A. They would. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence, your 
Honor. 

(1927) Mr. McGohey: With the same reser­
vation, no ·objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 66 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

(Short recess.) 
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(1928) The Court:* * * Now, Mr. Isserman, the 
other day we had two motions that were made in 
your absence-one was to disqualify me and the 
other was to disqualify all the judges in this dis­
trict in connection with the matter now pending­
and I am anxious to dispose of those. And unless you 
feel that you desire to add something to what your 
colleagues said I will proceed to determine those 
motions now. 

Mr. Isserman: I would say, your Honor, that I 
have examined the record and I stand on the record 
in its present shape. 

The Court : Very well. I deny both of those 
motions. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, I want you, if you will, to turn 
your attention to these maps and point out for the (1929) 
record the areas in which there exist concentrations of 
pins and the areas in which there are either no pins what­
soever or a very sparse presence of them. Would you 
start with the February 6, 1940 panel~ And I have asked 
you some questions about that in the record on Friday but 
on examining the record I find that there are lots of refer­
ences to ''this'' or the word ''here'' is used and the record 
simply is not intelligible. So will you be good enough when 
you do that to refer to the particular area by name' 

By the way, do you have with you any information 
that indicates the boundaries of the Congressional Dis­
tricts that are shown on these maps 1 A. No, other than 
what is in the Legislative ~fanual. 

Q. Do you have anything to indicate the boundaries 
of certain areas within those districts? A. Yes. For con­
venience, since in describing the concentration areas and 
relatively barren areas we will be using the names which 
designate little localities, sub-areas of the Congressional 
Districts, we did rather specifically define what we mean 
by, for example, Harlem. When we use the term-

Q. What is the source of that information? .A. This is 
simply the definition of what the term means as we use it 
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in relation to these 1naps; and of course (1930) it co­
incides with general usage so far as the definition of 
these neighborhoods or comn1unities of the Bronx. 

Q. For example, start with any one of these neighbor­
hoods that you desire to point the Court's attention to 
on the February 6, 1940 map and indicate what the bound­
aries are of the neighborhood area that you refer to. A. 
All right. Just for illustrative purposes at this point 1 

Q. Yes. Would you do that 1 A. Well, you will note 
here (indicating) which happens to be-

* * * 
Q. n!Ir. \Vilkerson, when pointing don't say "here" 

but refer to a portion of the map in a rnanner that will 
identify it in the record. A. I was going to add that. At 
this point (indicating) is the area that we will refer to 
frequently here as W asbington Square Park. 

Q. When you say ''this point" what point on the map 
is that1 A. This point, I am about to tell you, in the lower 
extremity of the 17th Congressional District south of 14th 
Street and west of Broadway to the borders of the 14th­
of the 17th Congressional District-

The Court: To the what1 
The Witness: South of 14th Street and west 

(1931) of Broadway to the borders of the 17th 
Congressional District. 

* * 
JYir. McGohey: vVould the witness be good 

enough to state what that border of the 17th Dis­
trict is with respect to the place he is now describ­
ing1 

The \Vitness: I don't have the details of that 
before me. It is available in the 1\1:anual. 

* * 

Q. When you refer to the border you mean the border 
drawn on the map 1 A. The border drawn on the map 
for the 17th District. Is this the question the gentleman 
is asking~ 
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Q. I think Mr. McGahey wants to have the word '' bor­
ders" defined. We can refer to the actual language of 
the Legislative Manual and read it into the record at this 
time. 

The Court: Well, it is that north and south 
street; it is on the easterly border of the 17th Dis­
trict. That is the one that Mr. McGohey is asking 
for. 

1fr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I would 
(1932) like to :find out what the wtiness under­
stands by it because he is undertaking to describe a 
neighborhood called Washington Square. 

The Court: Yes. 
1fr. 11cGohey: And if I may say to the Court, 

I can read the Manual and find out what the streets 
of the 17th District are, but I would like to know 
what the witness's boundaries of the area which 
he designates Washington Square are. 

The Court: I think that is a fair question. 
The Witness : May I refer to the-
Mr. McGahey: Yes, certainly. 
The Witness: Mr. McGahey, I think we indi­

cated Friday that these Congressional District 
boundaries were made by tracing on a map the 1Speci­
fications for such Congressional District boundaries 
in the Legislative 1fanual. Now at each point, I do 
not recall precisely where the boundary-! don't re­
member from memory, but we did check the bound­
aries carefully. Now, the specific question you ask is, 
what is the western boundary at this point of the 
17th Congressional District f 

The Court: No, his question is, what do you 
say it is in making your calculations. 

Mr. McGahey: As to what constitutes the Wash­
ington Square District. 

(1933) The Court: That is right. 
Mr. Sacher: That has nothing to do with boun­

daries. He simply wants to know what area the 
witness describes as Washington Square, is that it~ 

The Court: What he has in mind as constituting 
the Washington Square District. 
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Mr. Gladstein: I think he had already read that. 
The Witne~ss: I will do it again. 

Q. Do you want to elaborate on that~ A. We mean by 
Washington Square area the area centering around Wash­
ington Squa:re Park south of 14th Street, along Fifth 
Avenue particularly, extending at this point (indicating) 
on the map to the upper part of what we are calling the 
Washington Square area, over to Seventh Avenue and a 
little bit farther down as the boundaries of the Congres­
sional District are irregular, over to approximately Eighth 
Avenue. 

I should like to say this at this point. When we are 
describing sub-areas such as Washington Square Park as 
we are using it here, we are describing areas that have no 
legal status whatever, they are not political entities. It 
is gen0'rally understood by people that by Washington 
Square you mean the area around Washington Square. 
If you mean on this side of the street or that ( 1934) side 
of the street, such precision we do not attempt to under­
take with reference to these sub-areas. But we are using 
them as a general aid to the Coryrt in locating and desig­
nating what are commonly understood and accepted de•sig­
nations for these sub-areas. 

The Court : You still haven't answered the ques­
tion. 

The Witness: Will the Court state the question' 
The Court: What do you consider to be the 

boundaries of this so-called Washington Square 
area~ You said Fifth A venue, Seventh A venue and 
Eighth Avenue, and that left the back door open, 
as I undarstand it. 

The Witnes~s: I think originally we said ,south 
of 14th Street. That closes the north border. 

The Court: Yes. South to where~ 
The Witness: To the south end of Washington 

Square. I think they call it Washington Square 
South; I am not ,sure. That closes the south border. 

The Court: That is right. 
The Witness: We said west of Broadway. That 

closes the eastern border. Right~ 
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The Court: The westerly .side of Broadway ac­
,cording to you is the easterly border of the Wash­
ington Square area and the westerly border is 
Eighth A venue? 

The Witness: At one point. And at another 
(1935) point Seventh Avenue. That is why we use 
the general reference westward to the Congressional 
District line which is not regular but rathe1r is on 
several streets. It is this area which again we as~sert 
has no legal status but is a generally recognized 
neighborhood in New York, in Manhattan, that we 
have in mind when we refer to the Washington 
Square Park area. 

The Court: Frankly, I have lived here in New 
York all my life, and was born here, and I don't 
know just what it is. I would have to go to a real 
estate man I think to find out what the Washington 
Park area was. But anyway, you have given me 
what you understand it to be for the purpose of your 
chart. So that is all 1right. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor was born in Brooklyn 
I ·suspect. 

The Court: Well, that is New York City. Per­
haps I should be more specific. You know, people 
born in Brooklyn are quite provincial in some ·ways. 

Mr. Sacher: That is what I thought. 
The Witness: I live in Brooklyn, your Honor. 
The Court: (To witness) That is just a little 

aside. 
Mr. McGohey: May I ask one more question, 

your (1936) Honor please' May I¥ 
The Court: Yes indeed you may. 
l\fr. McGohey: I take it from your answer, 1Ir. 

vVilkerson, then that the area of any neighborhood 
that you are describing i~s of necessity fluid, not 
fixed; is that correct 1 

Th~ Witness: If by that you mean-this is true, 
yes. And I want to impress that when we are talk­
ing about these sub-areas of a Congressional District 
we aren't now talking about precise boundaries 
which are to the inch the same in each map. 

l\fr. MeGohey: Or even to the block, I would say. 
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The Witness: Or to the block. That i's true. 
There is an occasional variance, for example. But 
I am giving you these definitions of the general 
locale so that you can place it within the 17th Dis­
trict which we are using as a precise area which 
acc<Xrds with the Legislative Manual. 

Mr. McGohey: Oh, I understand the precision 
of it-

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, I object to this. What 
is this~ Cross-examination or intervention or what f. 

The Court: Objection overruled. 
MJr. Sacher: I respectfully except. 
The Witness : Does that answer your question¥ 
(1937) Mr. McGohey: Yes, I understand about 

the precision of the Congressional Districts. I just 
wanted to get it clear in my mind, if I can, what is 
in your mind when you are talking about neighbor­
hoods. 

The Witness: Let me illustrate a little further, 
maybe it will help. There is an area, to indicate the 
general term, getting some of the least general­
we will speak occasionally of Gracie Square. By 
that we mean Carl Schurz Park, west to York Ave­
nue, which is about here (indicating) on the map. 
Now, on any particular map the juror may live at 
this one block or he may live in the next block or he 
may live the block below; but we are designating that 
general area or neighborhood as the neighborhood 
of Gracie Square. We are not posing a specific 
boundary for Gracie Square but are using rathea.­
this useful designation so that we can refer to points 
within the Congressional District which in general 
parlance around New York are pretty well known. 
These terms by the way we did not think of but 
they have been utilized in a number of publications 
describing the area of New York and are a part of 
the language of the community. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. The people of New York use those terms, don't 
they? A. Yes. 
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(1938) Q. I~s that right, Mr. Wilkerson~ A.. This is 
correct. 

Q. In other words, you might ask. a p~rson wher~ he 
lives in New York and he may say he hves 1n the W ash1ng., 
ton Square Park area, is that right 1 A. And you will 
expect that he lives in this southern extremity of the 17th 
Cong1ressional District. 

Q. Now regardless of any fluidity that Mr. McGohey 
is referring to, it is a fact, is it not, that the houses in 
the immediate vicinity of Wwshington Square Park don't 
move from year to year but they remain there, isn't that 
so~ A. I think that is generally-

Q. In other words you have a more or less permanent 
nucleus within each of these neighborhood areas, isn't that 
true? 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I object 
to the leading of the witness. 

The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Well, I will ask you what the fact is in that respect. 

The Court : Don't you think he has already made 
that clear, Mr. Gladstein 1 

A. The fact is-

Mr. Gladstein: 11:ay he answer, your Honor~ 

(1939) A. (Continuing) -that we have in all of these 
areas that we will call attention to, our sub-areas, rela­
tively stable-indeed they are highly stable communities­
the houses of which remain, the residents sometimes move 
out, but for the most part the residents during the period 
we are talking about remain. There are a few exceptions 
to that that we will call attention to in the course of our 
discussion. But we are talking about relatively stable 
sub-neighborhoods. Does that answer the question~ 

Q. I think so. You have mentioned two of these neigh­
borhood areas. You call attention to Washington Square 
Park and its location on the map of Manhattan. And you 
have also called attention to Gracie S'quare. By the way, 
you did not indicate in what Congressional Disi:Jrict Gracie 
Square is to be found. A. Gracie Square is on the eastern 
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border of the 18th Congressional District, along about 
88th Street, I think it i~s. 

Q. Will you indicate, if you will, the other areas, just 
enumerate them if you will, and 'refer to them as you go 
along that you want to call attention to~ A. Well, in 
some of the maps farther down the line we will have occa­
sion to call attention to what we call the Parkchester area 
which happens to be in the heart (1940) of the 26th 
Congressional District of the Bronx. Now, we haven't 
defined-well, we can-from East Tremont Street south­
maybe the. record should show this: by Parkchester we are 
speaking about from East Tremont Street south to McGraw 
from White Plains A venue and ea~st to Castle Hill. But 
such precision is hardly essential however for our pur­
poses because everyone I believe with some little knowledge 
of the Bronx is familiar with this large housing develop­
ment of the Metropolitan Life Insurance Company that is 
known as Parkchester. 

But to go on: we refer occasionally to Riverdale, which 
is in the 25th Congressional District of the Bronx, Riverdale 
is for our purposes here this northwest corner of the 25th 
Congressional District, west of Broadway. We refer to 
a less clearly defined area-we will from time to time in 
the coutrse of our discussion of these maps-that we will 
call rather loosely the New York University-Fordham area. 
Now, really that is one of the loosest characterizations but 
it i~s about as adequate as one we could give, and it serves 
for our purposes. We a;re referring to the area around 
New York University, which is in the lower-southwesterly 
corner, southwesterly corner of the 25th District, running 
northeast up to and somewhat (1941) above Fordham 
University, which is on the eastern border of the 25th: 
Congre.ssional District. We will refer-

Q. Before you leave that can you indicate a little bit 
more precisely the general boundaries within which the 
New York University-Fordham area or neighborhood area 
is embraced~ A. N orthwe~st of New York University, 
which is a pretty definite locale, to East 211th Street, 
which is about up here (indicating), bordered by Webster, 
Jerome and King.sbridge Avenue in the Bronx. 

Q. A.ll right, will you proceed~ A.. We refer to B1ronx 
Park which is in the 25th District-
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Q. Congressional District~ A. Congressional District 
in the Bronx . 

.A. (Continuing) What we call the Bro~ Park area of the 
Bronx is in the southeast corner of the 25th Congressional 
District, east of Webster Avenue, which (1942) on the 
map runs approximately where you are seeing me drawing 
the line. It is south of Fordham and to the east border­
the southwest corner, roughly, I mean the southeast corner 
roughly of the 25th Congressional District of the Bronx. 

We will refer to the 24th Congressional District in 
which there is an area we will call Highb)ridge. Now, 
here again-

The Court: What do you call that? 
The Witness : High bridge. 
The Court: Yes . 

.A. (Continuing) Thi•s area is west of Webster, extending 
from about 161st Street to 176th Street. 

In the 21st Congressional District, which is in Man­
hattan, we will ref~r to a sub-area known as Washington 
Heights. And for our purposes here we are thinking of 
Washington Heights as that part of the 21st Congressional 
District, the boundaries of which are here arawn, which 
extend from about 158th Street north to Fort George and 
·Hillside A venues. We will refer to an Inwood area which 
is that part of the 21st District of Manhattan immediately 
north of what we are calling Washington Heights. And 
this extreme upper part of the 21st we are refer;ring to 
as the Inwood area . 

.And the area towards the middle of the 21st (1943) 
north of 158th Street as Washington Heights. 

I will refer from time to time to what we call the City 
College area which is also in the 21st Congressional Dis­
trict of Manhattan. And by that we mean that part of 
the 21st Di,strict which extends from about 135th Street to 
158th Street, which we are using as the border line between 
this sub-district and Washington Heights. 

Q. It is south of Washington Heights? A. It is south 
of Washington Heights. 

In the 20th Congres.sional District we will refer to an 
ajrea roughly designated here as River·side-West End. We 
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are thinking of an area which is roughly parallel to Central 
Park, farther to the east, which covers Riverside Drive 
and West End Avenue west of Amsterdam Avenue. 

In the same general area I will (refer to south or 42nd 
Street or I will refer to the Chelsea area or the Hells 
Kitchen area. We are really thinking of all of the 20th 
District south of 42nd Street to its lower extremity, which 
is about 24th Street, 26th Street. 

(1944) Q. 24th or 26th. A. About 26th Street. 
Q. All right. A. In the 18th Congressional Distriet­
Q. You have already referred to G1racie Square in that 

district. A. That i's the only sub-area we referred to there. 
Q. All right. A. N O\V in the 17th Congressional Dis­

trict there will be a number of sub-areas which are loosely 
defined but which gives a frame of reference. 

Q. And which are generally-

Mr. McGahey: I object to the leading question, 
your Honor. 

The Court: Sustained. 
The Witness: I should like to call attention to 

why it is necessary in the 17th District to call at­
tention to quite a series of sub-districts, sub-areas, 
that we will designate. If you will note the borders 
of the district from Central Park, upper extremity 
of Central Park, it moves down around Eighth 
Avenue, and what is known as West Central includes 
a block there along West Central Park and moves 
on down. Then on the eastern side it includes two 
or three blocks. Here is Fifth A venue, Park Ave­
nue, that part of Park Avenue which is above the 
New York Central tracks, at the point where the 
track's come out from under P·ark Avenue from 96th 
to 97th Street, we have quite an entirely different 
kind of area. (1945) But the 17th includes Fifth 
Avenue, Park Avenue; it goes over to about Third, 
I think it is, to Second. At one point here, just below 
the Queensboro Bridge, its borders go out to the 
East Riv~r, and then they come back again, moving 
down what is about Second Avenue to the southern 
line, which is on a parallel with South Washington 
Square Park. 
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Now, in that area which embraces a number of 
pretty distinct neighborhoods, we will call attention 
here to what we call Central Park West. By that 
we really mean this area west of Central Park to 
the boundary line, to the western boundary line of 
the 17th District. We will refer to Fifth Avenue 
here, at times we might say east of the park or .east 
of Central Park. By that we mean this area bor­
dering on the east along Central Park and further 
eastward to the boundaries of the 17th Congres­
sional District. 

We will refer to Central Park South. By that 
we mean an area that is west of Third Avenue, north 
of Fifth Avenue, but immediately south of Central 
Park. 

We will refer to Sutton, Beekman, Tudor, which 
is really several areas-

Mr. Sach~: Just a moment, Mr. Wilkerson. 
You said north of Fifth A venue. Did you mean east 
of Fifth Avenue~ 

(1946) The Witness: With reference to Cen­
tral Park Houth, I said north of 50th Street,-did I 
~say Fifth A venue~ 

Mr. Sacher: Yes. 
The Witness: I meant to .say 50th Street. 

Thank you for the correction. And west of Thilrd 
Avenue. 

A. (Continued) By Sutton, Beekman, Tudor-these are 
names that I think most people are acquainted with. 
Tudor City, for example, is at the eastern extremity of 
42nd Street; somewhat above there is ·what is known as 
Sutton Place and Beekman. Well, when I use that desig­
nation, we are thinking of this little outshoot that was 
provided h~re for the 17th District to go out to East River, 
de~signated on the map by these two points of the 17th-

Mr. Sacher: What points are they, please, for 
the record: 

The Witness: Immediately below the Queensboro 
Bridge, and above about 40th Street-from about 
40th Street to Queensboro Bridge, and about Third 
Avenue east to the river. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. East to the river~ A. East to the river. 
Q. Now, the Queensboro Bridge, you say that that is 

the northernmost extremity of that particular sub-area. 
What ,street approximately is that~ A. It i~s about 59th. 

(1947) Q·. All right. A. I have already referred to 
the Washington Square Park area. 

We will .speak of an East Chelsea area, by which we 
mean west of Si:x,th Avenue in what is below 42nd Street, 
west of Sixth A venue to the boundary, to the east boundary 
of 20th District and south of 42nd .Street. 

In the 16th Congressional District, which is the lower­
well, we will say the southwest end of Manhattan Island­
we will refer to London Terrace, which is a block between 
23rd Street and 24th Street between Ninth Avenue and 
Tenth Avenue, and we will al~so have occasion to refer to 
Greenwich Village, which, roughly, we are thinking of it 
as the area south of 14th Street to H.ouston Street, which 
is the upper part of the 16th Congressional District. 

I don't know whether it is essential, Mr. Gladstein, 
but I should like to indicate once more that we have gone 
through this tedious process for the purpose of indicating 
approximate neighborhoods which a~re a part of the gen­
eral language of the community which are pretty clearly 
defined natural areas, as sociologi~sts-well, let us not use 
the term-pretty defined, clearly defined neighborhood 
areas in Manhattan and Bronx, and which we used h~re 
merely as a basis for a ready reference and designation 
of clusters of pins that we will find on these (1948) maps 
or bare spots that we will find on these maps. 

Q. All right. Now will you indicate, Mr. Wilkerson, 
paying attention to the map of February 6, 1940, what 
neighborhood areas found there show large concentrations 
of pins, and which ones are either barren or blighted or 
have only one or two or vE:lry few pins~ A. Well, let us 
begin by calling attention to concentrations. By the way, 
in this connection, so that our information could be a little 
bit more precise than otherwise would be true, I examined 
each of these maps and made a separate sheet with cer­
tain facts about the district, population, and what have 
you; counted the exact number of pins in the areas and 
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·sub-areas we are talking about, and I have that ~summar­
ized, and I will refer to it as a help in analyzing these 
maps. 

Does that reference that you have just made include 
an actual count of the number of pins in a particular area 
or within a particular district~ .A. That was the purpose 
of it. 

Q. And you have those noted down, is that right~ .A. 
So that we would not need to say-yo:a will notice there 
is a cluster of pins in a certain area, but we went to that 
cluster and counted them, and we have here a record of 
that, vvhich I will refer to from time to time. 

Q. Very good. A. Now, you want the general facts 
( 1949) shown by this map: 

In the 26th and 25th-well, in the 26th there is a scat­
tering of pins, hardly any substantial cluster. I think it 
should be mentioned this is the 26th Congressional Dis­
trict of the Bronx; that in that area there are 21 jurors 
representing 9.1 per cent of the jurors-

Q. Of the whole panel for that date~ A. Of the Bronx 
and :Manhattan jurors of the panel for that date. 

It might be worth while to indicate something about 
relative population using as a rough index the voting popu­
lation in these different areas, and we could give that 
information if you wish in relation to these various Con­
gressional Districts. 

Q. I wish you would, Mr. Wilkerson, and it is clear in 
the record that you are now discussing, your attention is 
now directed, to the map of February 6, 1940; is that right~ 
A. Yes. 

The Court: Exhibit 54. 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, thank you, your Honor. 
The Witness: It is also clear, I trust, that we 

are utilizing voting population here, at this point 
merely as a rough indication of the extent to which 
the Congressional District has people living in it. 

Q. Who vote~ A. Who vote, yes. That is, people 
(1950) of such an age. 

Mr. McGohey: I didn't get that last, Mr. Wil­
kerson. 
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The Witness : People of such an age. 

* * * 
The Court~ I didn't get that either. People of 

such an age' 
The \Vitness: But thjs information is not of 

the people of voting age but actually the number of 
voters as reported by the New York City Board of 
Elections. In the Congressional distrids-

Mr . .IvicGohey: May I ask for what year7 
The Witness: 1944, I was about to tell you that. 

In the case of this particular map it is the year 
1944. Maybe I should explain why. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Will you explain as you are doing that whether 
you are talking about enrollees, or ·whether you are talking 
about the figures put out by the Board of Elections of 
those who actually voted 1 A. This refers to actual voters. 

Q. Where did you get the :figures~ A. Board of Elec­
tions. 

Q. And all you did was simply-I-

Mr. McGohey: I object to the leading. 
(1951) Mr. Gladstein: I started to withdraw it. 
The Witness; Now with reference-
Mr. Gladstein: Excuse me. 
A leading question, your Honor, is objectionable 

only when it is dir.ected to the most material aspect 
of testimony. But when you ar-e asking a witness 
about the fact that he got some figures from the 
Government's source-

The Court: Now, Mr. Gladstein, I know all about 
leading questions, and when the Court in his discre­
tion will allow them, and when he won't. Now you 
go ahead and lead him as little as necessary. 

Mr. Gladstein: I don't have to lead him at all, 
and I won't, your Honor. 

The Court: That is all right. It is just not to 
get into an unnecessary argument about it. Because 
I know plenty about leading questions. I have 
probably tried a fBw of them myself in my day. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Asked a few of them too. 
The Witness: I started to explain why we used 

for this 1940 map the 1944 voting population. We 
might have got the 1940 voting population, but the 
Congressional District boundaries had changed, and 
if we used voting figures for 1940 they would refer 
to geographical areas different from the ones we have 
drawn on the map here. (1952) .And the most re­
cent voting data which referred to these precise 
Congressional Districts was 1944. That is the nearest 
to the date of this particular panel. ' 

Q. That is the 1940 map and maps in that period~ A. 
That is right. 

Q. But now when you co1ue to- A. Now, subsequently 
we will call attention to voting population data which are 
current or much closer to the date of the actual date of the 
panel. 

Q. That is to say, maps for the later part of 1948 and 
1949- A. Even 1946. 

Q. -and 1946, when you discuss those you will refer to 
voting figures that are later in date than the 1944 ones, and 
which came from the Board of Elections, is that right~ A. 
That is right. 

Q. All right, will you proceed, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. I 
think it will be well just systematically to proceed by Con­
gressional districts. 

Q. Do so. A. And then to call attention to certain out­
standing features of the map as a whole: 

In the Congressional District, the 26th Congressional 
District of the Bronx, this large V here (indicating) there 
were 182,926 votes cast in 1944 in the Congressional Elec­
tions. This area has 12 per cent of the voters in all of the 
Congressional districts (1953) shown on this map-that 
is, l\.fanhattan and Bronx. 

Q. It had, you mean, in 1944~ .. A ... It had in 1944, yes. 
On the jury panel of February 6, 19·40, there were. 21 

jurors from that Congressional District, the 26th repre­
senting approximately nine-in fact, 9.1 per cent of all the 
jurors in Manhattan and Bronx, as shown by this map. 

In the 25th Congressional District where there were 
in 1944 194,805 votes cast in Congressional elections, a dis-
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trict which includes 13.3 per cent of the votes in the 1944 
election Congressional election, for the area shown on this 
map, there were 10 jurors on the ]'~ebruary 6, 1940, panel, 
representing about 4 per cent-4.3 per cent. 

Mr. McGahey: Pardon me, your Honor. If 
your Honor please, I move to strike out the testi­
mony as to the percentage because it affirmatively 
appears from the witness's testimony that he is 
comparing jurors called in 1940 with a voting popu­
lation of 1944. 

The Witness: On the contrary. Your Honor, 
may I make a comment, because Mr. McGohey is in 
error~ 

The Court: No. Usually the witnesses in most 
cases/wait until somebody asks them a question, and 
if there is something that they desire to clear up, 
why, (1954) they leave it to their counsel to do 
that. 

The Witness: Pardon me. 
The Court: It is a little disturbing to the pro-

ceedings to have the witnesses ask questions. 
I grant the motion. 
Mr. Gladstein: Will your Honor please-
The Court: I will listen to what you have to 

say. 
Mr. Gladstein: -suspend the ruling until I have 

had a chance to address myself to the motion 1 
The Court: Yes. I thought the witness had al­

ready testified as to why he used the 1944 voting 
statistics, and that sufficiently demonstrated that 
the basis for the conclusions here was not a proper 
one. 

Mr. Gladstein: No conclusions are being of­
fered, your Honor, and that is precisely the point 
I want to draw your attention to: I take it that 
we could sit here and make the computations our­
selves, and if your Honor desires that be done, why, 
that is all right; but Mr. Wilkerson has been good 
enough to make a computation showing that the 
ten jurors on the panel of February 6, 1940, who 
came from the 25th Congressional District happen 
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to repres-ent 4.3 per cent of all the jurors in Man­
hattan and Bronx called on that panel. 

Now, we certainly have a right to have that ap­
pear in the record; and if Mr. McGohey objects to 
the fact that (1955) this mathematical calcula­
tion has been made, which can he made by any of 
us, and which I insist be made and be put into the 
record-if he objects to having the witness testify 
to that fact, not as a conclusion but as something 
that anyone who knows arithmetic can simply 
calculate, and which we have accommodated the 
Court with-that is the thing that he started to ob­
ject to, the fact that the ten jurors from the 25th 
Congressional District represent 4.3 per cent of all 
the Manhattan and Bronx jurors on that particular' 
panel. That is not something that can be arguable. 

The Court: If you are talking about the 4.3 
per cent of the number of jurors-

Mr. Gladstein: That is the first thing I am 
talking about. 

The Court: -that is not what I was ruling on. 
I see no reason why a mathematical conclusion may 
not be made that there were so many jurors on the 
panel shown in Exhibit 54, and that of those jurors 
such and such a percentage were in the 25th Con­
gressional District, provided that Congressional 
District was not altered, and you are referring to 
the time 9f the panel. I think Mr. McGahey's mo­
tion was addressed to something different. Let 
me hear from him. 

Mr. Gladstein: Let me address myself to that. 
( 1956) Your Honor certainly-· 

The Court: Let us find out first precisely what 
Mr. McGohey is claiming, so there will be no mis­
understanding of it. 

Mr. McGohey: I do not object to the witness's 
testimony as to the percentage that the jurors whose 
pins appear on the map bear to the total number of 
jurors called in that panel on February 6, 1940. 
Of course, I don't object to that. My objection goes 
to the witness's testimony that that number of jurors 
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which appear, I think he said, in the 25th District­
that that number of jurors bears a percentage rela­
tion to the number of voters in that district in 1944. 

Mr. Gladstein: I-Ie did not testify to that. 
The Court: That is just what I thought you 

meant. 
Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, I desire the record 

to be read back to you, because he didn't say that. 
The Court: \V ell, if he didn't say that, I will 

take Mr. McGohey as saying it now, and-
Mr. Gladstein: I mean the witness did not. 
The Court: -and consider the motion addressed 

to the testimony of the witness that 13.3 per cent 
is the percentage which the number of jurors bore 
to the voting population. 

(1957) Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, I in­
vite you to have the record read back to you, for 
this reason, because you will find the witness to 
have said rner·ely this, that according to the official 
'figures from the Board of Elections, 1944 election 
returns, the number of votes cast in a particular 
Congressional District, to wit, the 25th, represented 
13.3 per eent of all the votes cast in lVIanhattan and 
Bronx, that is all. 

The Court: I guess he is right about that, J\1r. 
McGohey. 

Mr. Gladstein: It is not used as a basis of com­
parison. 

The Court: We don't need to get excited, :Mr. 
Gladstein. I have got these {igur·es down, and as 
I recollect on it I think you are right. 

Mr. McGohey: If that is the correct testimony, 
your Honor, I do not object to that, except that I 
do point out to your Honor that it is probably ir­
relevant because it is not proving anything, com­
paring so1nething in 1940 with 1944. But at least 
I withdraw the specific objection I made. 

The Court: Yes. I think what we have so 
far is preliminary data which I will permit to stand. 

* * 
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(1958) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, what about the 24th District, Mr. Wilkerson 1 
A. If I recall, I was not through with the 25th. 

Q. All right, finish it. A. There was one point I wanted 
to make there, that the ten jurors on the panel of February 
6, 1940, in the 25th Congressional District, represent 4.3 
per cent of the jurors in Manhattan and Bronx for that 
panel. But nine of those ten jurors are in this area which 
I earlier designated as New York University-Fordham, ex­
tending from NYU a little bit north of Fordham University, 
a general sweep that you will get to know as we move 
through these panels, that 90 per cent of them, of the 
jurors in the 25th Congressional District, are in that par­
ticular area. 

Now moving to the 24th-shall.I~ 
Q. Please. A. Merely as a part description of the 24th~ 

but we make no comparison here whatsoever, it happens 
that in 1944 this is an area where 129,000 people or more,-
129,423, in fact, voted. 

The Court: 129,423 ~ 
The Witness: 129,423. 

Q. This is the figure taken from the Board of Elections 
returns~ A. Yes, Congressional elections in 1944. 

(1959) Q. Mr. Wilkerson, when ref·erring to these 
figures, since you have the exact figure as published, use 
the exact ones, will you, please~ A. Yes. Very well. 

Now, in this 24th Congressional District of the Bronx, 
which you see designated here, there were three jurors on 
this particular panel, the panel of February 6, 1940, repre­
senting 1.3 per cent of the jurors in Manhattan and Bronx. 

Q. On that paneH A. On that panel. 

* 
Q. Had you completed about the 24th~ A. I was about 

to comment in a further description of the 24th District, 
which we indicated at 129,42a voters in the Congressional 
elections of 1944, that it includes 8.8 per cent of the voters 
in the Congressional Districts of Manhattan and Bronx. 

Moving to the 23rd, in the southwest part of the Bronx, 
in this Congressional District there were cast in the Con-
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gressional elections of 1944 168,312 votes, representing 
11.5 per cent of all the votes cast in Manhattan and Bronx 
Congressional districts combined. The jurors chosen-or 
rather, 16 of the jurors included on the (1960) February 
6, 1940, pan€llived in this 23rd Congr·essional District. 

·Q. At that time 1 A. At that time. They represent 6.9 
per cent of the jurors chosen on that panel who were 
residents of Manhattan and Bronx. 

You will note, however,-and this is why these general 
sub-areas are so important-that here again these jurors 
are restricted, or rather, live for the most part in a fairly 
well defined area. In this part of the 23d district, for 
example (indicating) there are no juror pins whatever. 

Mr. Sacher: What part is that? 
The Witness: This part where the jurors are 

is the part which we defined a little bit earlier as 
High bridge; and if you examine the map you will 
find there are 14 pins in that Highbridge area which 
represent 87 per cent-87.5 per cent of all the pins 
for the 23rd Congressional district on this panel. 

Moving to the 22nd Congressional district­
The Court: Just a second. What did you say 

that percentage was on the 14~ 
The \Vitness: 87.5 per cent. 
The Court : 87.5 per cent? 
The vVitness: Yes, a ratio of 14 to 16. 
Shall I proceed, your Honor? 
(1961) Mr. Gladstein: Just a second, Mr. Wilk­

erson, if you will. I have just made that computa­
tion, and it is 87.5 per cent, your Honor. That is, 
dividing 16 into 14. 

The Court: I have got it. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Would you proceed, Mr. Wilkerson? A. Since we are 
moving down the map I might move now into the 22nd 
Congressional District, which is the heart of the area 
generally referred to as Harlem, which popularly we know 
of as the New York City of Negroes within the City of 
N·ew York. 
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Within the 22nd Congressional District in the 1944 
Congressional elections there were cast 97,124 votes, repre­
senting 6.7 per cent of all the votes cast in the Bronx and 
Manhattan Congressional districts. There is in the Harlem 
area, in the 22nd one pin so far as the panel of F,ebruary 
6, 1940, is concerned, representing .4 of one per cent of 
the jurors on that panel who live in Manhattan and Bronx. 

In the adjacent 21st Congressional District there were 
142,335 votes cast in the 1944 elections for Congressman, 
representing 9.8 per cent of the votes cast in those elec­
tions in all of these Congressional Districts in 1944. In 
that Congressional District ther·e are some (1962) 20-
not so1ne-there are 22 pins representing 22 jurors' resi­
dences as of the panel of F·ebruary 6, 1940. These repre­
sent 9.5 per cent of all the jurors who lived in Manhattan 
and Bronx who were Dhosen for that February 6th panel. 

Now, within that area I think it should be pointed out 
that in what we defined a little bit earlier as the Wash­
ington Heights area, there ar·e twelve jurors living repre­
senting 54.5 per cent of the jurors in the-

* * 
A. (Continuing) Of the jurors in the 21st Congressional 
District. 

* 
Mr. Gladstein: "Living"? I did not under-

stand him to say ''living.'' 
The Court : He m·eans residing. 
The Witness : Yes. 
I should call attention also to what we defined 

earlier as the City College area, that is, the 21st 
District between 135th and 158th Streets. In that 
area there are seven jurors, seven of the 22 from 
the 21st District-that is, they lived there at the 
time of the date of the February 6th jury panel. 

(1963) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Supposing I put these questions to you, Mr. Wilker­
son, and perhaps we can hurry this a little. Have you 
completed with the 21st District 1 A. I was about to say 
that those seven in the City College area represent 31.8 
per cent of the jurors in the district. 
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Q. Now, what about the 20th Congressional District 1 
Do you have figures on the vote cast in 1944 in that dis­
trict? A. 141,270. 

Q. What percentage,-

The Court: Just a second. What was that :fig­
ure1 

The Witness: 141,270. 

Q. What percentage of the voters in Manhattan and 
Bronx for that year was that figure~ A. 9.7 per cent 
of the vote. 

Q. How many jurors on the February 6, 1940, panel 
are found to have been residing as of that date in that 20th 
District~ A. 23. 

Q. What percentage does that figure of 23 bear to all 
of the jurors in Manhattan and Bronx on that panel 1 A. 
Ten per cent of the jurors in the 20th C.D. 

Q. Is there any particular concentration to be observed 
within any sub-area or neighborhood in the 20th~ A. Yes. 

(1964) Q. Where~ A. Particularly in the area we 
designated as Riverside, West End-

·Q. How many pins there~ A. There are 16 of the 23 
pins, representing 69.5 per cent of the jurors in the 20th 
Congressional District. 

The Court: 15, you say 1 
The Witness: 16. 

Q. Is there any particular barren area within the 20th 
Congressional District 1 A. South of 42nd Street, yes. 
We referred to such an area in our earlier description, 
south of 42nd, the southern extremity of the 20th C.D. 
boundary, or the southern boundary of the 20th C.D., is the 
area we call Chelsea, and further to the west, Hell's 
Kitchen. 

Q. Do you find any there~ A. No jurors. 

The Court: Chelsea and Hell's Kitchen 1 
The Witness: That is right. There are no 

jurors-or rather, at the time of this jury panel 
none of the jurors who served on that panel lived 
in that area. 

LoneDissent.org



723 

Doxey A. Wilkerson-for Defendants on Challenge-Direct 

Q. Now, the 19th Congressional District-

lYir. Gordon: Served or called 7 
The Witness: Maybe I should say called instead 

of served. 
The Court : I didn't hear that. 
Mr. Gladstein: The witness stated that he should 

(1965) have said "called" instead of "served." 

* 

Q. We understand that this refers to those who were 
called and whose names appear on the jury list. .A. That 
is right. 

Q. Now, let us go to the 19th Congressional District. 
What was the voting figure~ A. 108,188. 

Q. What percentage does that figure bear to the total 
~fanha ttan, Bronx vote in that election~ A. 7.4 per cent. 

Q. How many jurors do you find living in the 19th Con­
gressional District who were called to serve on the Febru­
ary £, 1940, panel~ A. One. 

Q. What percentage does that figure of one bear to all 
the Manhattan and Bronx resident jurors in that panel~ 
A .. .4 of one per cent. I might call attention, if I may, that 
the one juror in the 19th lives right near the borderline, 
the western border of the 19th, and for the most part this 
district is entirely barren of jurors during this period. 

Q. VVhen you say ''this district,'' what are you talk­
ing about? A. The 19th district. 

* 

(1966) By ll!lr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, let us go to the 18th Congress­
ional District. What is the :figure supplied by the Board 
of Elections as to the vote cast in that district in the 1944 
Congressional elections? A. 98,242. 

Q. What percentage does that :figure bear to the total 
:Manhattan and Bronx vote cast that yearf A. 6.7 per 
cent . 

. Q. How many jurors are found living in the 18th Dis­
triCt who were called to serve on the February 6 1940 
panel~ A. Eleven. ' ' 
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Q. And what percentage does that bear to the total 
number of Manhattan and Bronx resident jurors on that 
panel~ A. 4.8 per cent. 

Q. Now, is there any particular area or neighborhood 
within the 18th Congressional District that you want to 
call attention to' .A. Yes. 

Q. What is it~ A. I mentioned a little bit earlier 
(1967) that the 18th Congressional District includes quite 
a stretch of territory which is quite different in character 
in different parts. I mentioned, for example, that above 
96th Street where the railroad tracks come out from under 
Park Avenue, it comes to be an area of, for the most 
part, low income working class homes, predominantly Porto 
Ricans in population. 

The Court: Predominantly what~ 
Mr. Gladstein: Porto Rican, your Honor. 
The Witness: Porto Rican. 

A. (Continuing) Whereas, south of 96th Street along Park 
Avenue, Fifth and others, we get, if you will pardon the 
expression, very swanky apartment houses, a much higher 
income residential area; and I want to eall attention to 
the fact that north of 96th Street in the 18th Congressional 
District, where there were eleven jurors on the panel of 
February 6, 1940, there was only one juror in the upper 
part of the 18th District. 

Q. You mean that of the eleven on that panel who 
lived in the 18th District, one only of those eleven lived 
north of 96th Street; is that correct~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Now what about the 17th Congressional District? 
Do you have the voting figures for that district in 1944¥ 
A. Yes. 164,106 votes. 

( 1968) The Court : Just a second. You say in 
the 18th there was one north of 96th Street where 
it was predominantly Porto Rican, and do you say 

the other ten came from the swanky places? 
The Witness : No, I say they came from below 

96th Street where the much better residential apart­
ments and homes exist. 

The Court : That is, the other ten maybe came 
from swanky places and maybe not. 
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The Witness: They came from this better resi­
dential part of the 18th District which is below 96th 
Street. 

The Court : Now you are turning to the 17th 7 
The Witness: That is right. 
Mr. Gladstein: That is your district, your 

Honor. 

Q. Will you give us the figures on the 1944 vote, Mr. 
Wilkerson~ A. There were 164,106 votes. 

Q. Now, what percentage did that figure bear to the 
total 1944 vote in Manhattan and Bronx 1944 Congress­
ional elections~ A. 11.2 per cent of the vote. 

Q. Now, at that point, I will ask you, Mr. Wilkerson, 
to look at the figures. Is it true that the 11.2 per cent of 
the total vote-that is, Bronx-JYianhattan-cast in 1944 by 
the voters in the 17th Congressional District (1969) was 
a ·smaller percentage and a smaller number indeed than 
votes cast in the 23rd and 25th and the 26th, is that right! 
A. That is correct. 

Q. Now, what is the number of jurors that you find 
in that panel who came from the 17th Congressional Dis­
trict? A. There were 115 jurors from the 17th Congress­
ional District on the panel of February 6, 1940. 

Q. And what percentage does that figure, 115, bear to 
the total number of jurors found on that panel in Man­
hattan and Bronx~ A. They represented 49.8 per cent 
of all the jurors on that panel of ] 1ebruary 6th who resided 
in the Bronx and Manhattan. 

Q. Now, can you break that figure down a little for 
us to indicate the areas that you have already referred 
to, the sub-areas or neighborhood areas, and give us the 
figures shown by count· of the pins~ A. I will do this 
without going through all of the redefinitions of sub-area 
boundaries. 

Q. No, don't redefine it, because we have that already. 
A. In the Central Park West portion to which I am point­
ing here on the map of the 17th Congressional District 
there were 20 pins representing 20 jurors living in Cen­
tral Park West, or 17 per cent-17.4 per cent of all the 
jurors in the 17th Congressional District. 
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Q. Fifth Avenue? A. In what we call Fifth (1970) 
Avenue on the east side of the park there were .38 jurors, 
approximately-well, exactly 33 per cent of the total. 

Q. For the 17th? A. For the 17th. 
Q. Well, suppose we don't worry about the percent­

ages within the 17th and just give us the figures for the 
neighborhood areas. A. Very well. In the South Central 
Park area there were 13 jurors, in what we were roughly 
calling Sutton, Beekman, Tudor neighborhood, there were 
nine jurors. In the Washington Square Park area of the 
17th there were ten jurors, and in-

Q. Well, that is all you have 7 A. Yes, that is right. 
Q. All right. Now you have another congressional dis­

trict that you have not mentioned yet. That is the 16th, 
isn't that right? A. Right. 

Q. What was the vote cast there in 19441 A. In the 
16th Congressional District there were-that is, in the 
Manhattan portion-35,206 votes cast. 

Q. Now, what percentage does that bear to the total 
vote 1 A. Representing 2.4 per cent of the total vote. 

Q. How many jurors on the panel of February 6, 1940, 
were found to reside in the 16th 1 A. Eight jurors. 

(1971) Q. The percentage is what? A. 3.5 per cent. 
Q. That is to say, the percentage is-the figure 8 bears 

a ratio of 3.5 of the total number of jurors, is that right7 
A. In Manhattan and Bronx. 

Q. Out of those 8, where did you find them concen­
trated on the map~ A. 6 of them were concentrated in 
what we earlier defined here as the Greenwich Village area, 
representing around 75 per cent of the jurors in that area 
in that Congressional-

The Court : Is that one of these rich areas, the 
Greenwich Village area 7 

The Witness: The Greenwich Village area 
varies. For the most part it is not a wealthy area, 
but it does have here and there some high rent and 
pretty nice apartment houses. I am making no com­
ments at this point about where the jurors come 
from, but the area does include some pretty wealthy 
residential property. 
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Q. Now, I would like to call attention to the map of 
April 14, 1941, which is Defendants' Exhibit No. 55 in 
evidence, and now that we have the definitions of the terms 
that we are using clear in the record, and also the fact 
that we are using the 1944 voting figures-that is cor­
rect about this map, is it~ A. That is correct. 

Q. All right. Now suppose we proceed to examine 
(1972) that one in terms of the type of information you 
have given us as shown on the face of the map that you 
have already talked about. Now, the 26th Congressional 
District-

The Court: Couldn't you tabulate this, Mr. 
Gladstein 7 

Mr. Gladstein: Tabulate~ 
The Court: I say, couldn't you tabulate this 

and perhaps save quite a little time~ If he is going 
to follow that same formula-

Mr. Sacher: May I suggest, your Honor, that 
the witness perhaps be permitted in court as to each 
map to name the number of the Congressional Dis­
tricts, state the total votes cast, total number of 
jurors drawn, ratio between vote cast and total vote 
cast, and ratio between jurors and total number of 
jurors from Manhattan and Bronx, without any 
question, so that you will have it for each map. 

The Court: I think that is just what Mr. Glad­
stein proposed to have him do. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: I was wondering if you could put 

it on a piece of paper and offer it in evidence. 
Mr. Sacher : I think it would be better in the 

record. 
(1973) 1\fr. Gladstein: I would like it read in at 

this point. 
The Court: I take it you gentlemen would pre­

fer to have it read into the record~ 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, but I think I can short-cut 

it, your Honor, if we could have an understanding 
that that is what in effect is being done and the re-­
porter can simply create in the record ~olumns that 
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have certain designations, and then the witness can 
simply read down the figures that fall into those 
columns opposite the proper designations. 

Does that seem sensible to you, Mr. McGoheyY 
Mr. McGohey: It just seemed to me, your 

Honor, that the witness has this all tabulated him­
self, because he appears to be reading, and I won­
der if we could not help by marking it and putting 
that in evidence. 

The Court: That is just what I was thinking. 
I don't see why not, Mr. Gladstein. There is no 
use in just prolonging the matter by having him go 
on and orally state it when he has got papers right 
there and we can just mark that in evidence. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I have a second, your 
Honor~ 

The Court: Certainly. 
I have a suggestion to make : why don't you have 

him go to something else, and then over the lunch­
eon (1974) recess you can get those papers in 
shape, and when you come back after luncheon you 
can indicate whether or not you desire to accept 
my suggestion to offer them in evidence. 

Mr. Gladstein: I was just about to announce 
that I am going to accept that suggestion with this 
understanding, your Honor: At a certain point I 
would like of course to have him point out certain 
things regarding these tabulations, but at a certain 
point the voting list changes-that is to say, you 
recall the witness said he was using 1944 figures for 
some? 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, when I come to the point 

that they use different figures, I want to elicit that 
from the witness specifically. 

The Court: You may do that. 
Mr. Gladstein: Then I will revert to the method 

I have been pursuing at that point, your Honor. But 
as to the first five, I believe-and that is 1940, 1941, 
1942, 1943 and 1944 maps-we do not have these 
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tabulations, and they do, in the first two columns, 
of course, have exactly the same figures-that is, 
the voting figures and the percentage that the dis­
trict vote bears to the whole vote. 

The Court : Why don't you just hand them to 
Mr. lvlcGohey and let him examine them, and I will 
deem that (1975) you have offered them in evi­
dence to be marked as separate exhibits. 

Do you make objection to those, Mr. McGohey, 
except on the reservation that you have already 
made~ 

Mr. JYicGohey: Your Honor, in the discussion 
with Mr. Gladstein he expressed some doubt as to 
whether the listings which he has were clear enough 
to bring out the points that he desires to make 
without some testimony from the witness. 

l\1r. Gladstein: The reason being that they were 
not prepared with the thought in mind of being ex­
hibits but merely notes, you see. 

The Court: That is what made me think, as I 
said a few moments ago, that if you go on to some­
thing else, in the luncheon recess you can get those 
straightened out. There are a very few of them, 
and the figures are really quite simple, and then 
you can get them in shape to put them in evidence. 

Mr. Gladstein: This, however, is a good-I 
didn't want to destroy the continuity of the tes­
timony-

The Court: Let me just indicate something to 
you: I try to follow the testimony in every one of 
my cases with the utmost care, and I have been keep­
ing my notes here of all this data that you have been 
putting in this morning. I find that if I have papers 
before (1976) me which show those figures for 
all these other dates that the charts relate to, it 
is going to save me quite a little burden, and at the 
same time be very helpful to me. So I think you 
probably will help yourself and me at the same 
time if you were to adopt my suggestion, and over 
the luncheon recess, or, perhaps, if you care to 
overnight, you can have them typewritten up just 
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the way you want them and then let me have them. 
I get the idea that you are working on right now, 
and I can see from the charts the general way in 
which this proof is going to work out, so that I think 
it would be well if you could proceed to something 
else; you have got other things you want to bring 
out by this witness; and then I will fit these ex­
hibits in when I get them to the pattern that I have 
already in my notes. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I will be very happy to 
supply your Honor-and I think it would not be 
possible to do so until tomorrow-with what you 
want, just something visual that you can-

The Court: I was trying to save time too. I 
know that does not always meet with favor, but I 
really think that is something-! don't like to insist 
on it; I never like to try a case that way, but I do 
believe that the suggestion is one that you can at 
least ponder over during the luncheon recess, and 
now go on ( 1977) to something else. 

Mr. Gladstein: I would like at this point, if 
your Honor will permit me, to have the witness 
go through these maps and indicate certain things 
that I want to bring out and which ought to be in 
the record at this point, and then the exact figures 
we can supply in the form that your Honor has 
suggested. 

The Court: I will rule now that I will hear 
nothing further at this time on this subject but will 
permit you to go back to it after you have had those 
papers typewritten out, and then we will resume the 
testimony applicable to these charts. In my dis­
cretion as to the order of proof, I rule that now. 

Mr. Gladstein: I don't understand your Hon­
or's ruling. I am trying to show-and I thought 
I had a right to show-I believe I do have a right 
to show-what these panels give evidence of. 

'Now, your Honor has raised a question as to 
whether for the benefit of the Court-and I am per­
fectl.Y willing to accommodate the Court-some of 
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these figures may be prepared in tabular columns 
and supplied to the Court as exhibits. I am per­
fectly willing to undertake to do that. . We do~'t 
have exhibits that have been prepared w1th that 1n 
mind but we will undertake to have them in the 
morn'ing. In the meantime, however, I desire to 
conduct the (1978) examination of this witness 
for the purpose of having testimony in the record 
with respect to things that are not dependent upon 
any particular figures. I think your I-Ioonr certainly 
did not have that in mind. 

The Court: I understand, 1\tfr. Gladstein. You 
see, in any other case when the Court indicates some­
thing that will help the Court and be a matter of 
the Court's convenience, counsel immediately ac­
quiesces in it. There is never any wrangling or dis­
pute. But here for some reason or other these dis­
putes arise over the most trivial things. I am not 
precluding you from going ahead and proving all 
that you want to prove about these charts. I am 
merely suggesting that you drop that subject tem­
porarily, get these exhibits in shape, turn now to 
something else, and then come back to the other 
point later; and I am not merely suggesting it-I 
tried to do that-and I see now that I have to direct 
it, which I do. That is all. 

1fr. Gladstein: l\fay I ask your Honor one fur­
ther question concerning your ruling~ 

The Court: You may. 
l\1r. Gladstein: Is the basis of the ruling simply 

the fact that the exhibits that your Honor desired 
to put into the record at this point have not been 
prepared in that form. 

The Court: No. The point is, as I said before, 
my own convenience in listening to this; I have got 
all these notes prepared here which I have been tak­
ing down with the utmost care. Now you have got 
other data that you are going to have in these sheets 
of paper and I want to hear what the witness is 
going to say about these little sub-districts and 
neighborhoods with these papers before me, that 
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is all. It is going to be easier for me. And that is 
the way it is going to be. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, in view of what your 
Honor has said, I had wanted to get these up in a 
form more acceptable, but I am perfectly willing 
for the purpose of assisting the Court to let you have 
in front of you copies of exactly those tabulations 
that your Honor is talking about. 

The Court: Those are what you said you don't 
have with you now. 

lYir. Gladstein: No. I said I did not have (1980) 
them in a form which I felt was presentable. But 
you can have them as we have them, your Honor. 

The Court: I have I think on this matter reached 
the point where I will require you to pass on to some 
other subject and we won't take any more time dis­
cussing this particular one. So you can proceed 
with something else. 

Mr. Gladstein: I was about to offer, your Honor, 
some exhibits that show tabulations with respect to 
the maps. 

The Court: If you are about to offer the papers 
that only a moment ago you said you could not offer 
because they were not in proper shape, I can't help 
feeling that perhaps you are trifling with me. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now if your Honor please, what 
I said was that we hadn't prepared these with the 
thought in mind of having exhibits-

The Court: Why don't you say ''yes'' once in a 
while, Mr. Gladstein. 

Mr. Gladstein: I am the most agreeable person 
in the world. I say ''yes" to everybody, Judge. 

The Court: You see, this is one time when you 
are going to have to say yes, and whether you like 
it or not there is going to be no more discussion 
about what you are going to bring out about these 
charts, (1981) but you are going on to something 
else. Now, please do so. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor desires me to start 
a new subject 1 I .see it is seven minutes of one. 

The Court: Yes, I will take a recess now until 
2.30. 
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Mr. Gladstein: May I understand this, your 
Honor-that is all right, I won't ask the question. 

(1982) 

The Court: I think you know just what I want 
about this, and you can very easily do it and perhaps 
you can have it all done by the time you get back 
from lunch. 

JYir. Gladstein: Very well. 

(Recess to 2.30 p. m.) 

AFTERNOON SESSION 

DoxEY A. WILKERSoN, resumed the stand. 

* 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, with respect to the maps that have 
been received in evidence, have you made tabulations sim­
ply by counting the pins on the maps to indicate in what 
Congressional Districts the jurors fall~ A. I have·. 

Q. And have you prepared those tabulations on separate 
sheets, each referring to a particular map~ A. I have. 

Mr. ·Gladstein: Now those are the sheets that I 
was referring to this morning, your Honor. And I 
have a s-et which gives these figures and it will make 
it easy for you to follow. 

The Court : That is fine. 
Mr. Gladstein: I am sorry they are merely car­

bon copies. And if they are not clear and legible 
perhaps your Honor would like the copy that-the 
original that Mr. Wilkerson has. 

The Court: These are perfectly legible. Are 
you going to offer them in evidence now? 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: That is all right. 

(1983) By Mr. Gladstein: 

·Q. Let me ask you this, Mr. Wilkerson: Those docu­
ments that I have just given to the Court and the originals 
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of which you have in your hand, are you satisfied that they 
are correctly tabulated, that is, the mathematical computa­
tion is correct; is that right? A. Yes. 

The Court: You may have them subject to cor­
rection if you wish if something should develop. That 
can easily be done. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. All right. I offer 
those in evidence. And I suppose that each of them 
ought to somehow refer to the particular map to 
which it relates. 

The Court: Yes, do that. You see, at the top 
of each sheet is given the panel of a certain date. 

Mr. Gladstein: What I mean, your I-Ionor: :b-,or 
example, the one for 2·-6-40, suppose we call that­

The Court : That is 54. And they will go 
serially right from 54 on . 

.l\fr. Gladstein: That is right. Suppose we call 
the tabulation for Exhibit 54, suppose we call that 
54-A. 

The Court: I think that is an excellent idea. 

* * * 
(1984) Mr. JYicGohey: If your Honor please, 

I have no objection subject, however, to the same 
restriction that I made with respect to the maps 
themselves. 

* * 
The Court: I notice that these are prepared 

(1985) just the way I thought they were, so that 
they show all of the data similar to the data already 
testified to, including the particular districts to which 
the witness desired to make reference. 

1\1r. McGohey: Yes. We will have those exhibits 
photostated. 

The Court: Or the particular neighborhoods or 
whatever the phrase was that he used. 

* 
By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, commencing with the map of 
1945, that is the December 17, 1945, map, the exhibits, the 
tabulation that has been received in evidence that cor­
responds to that-
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(1986) l\fr. Gladstein: What is the number of 
that, l\!Ir. Clerk? 

The Witness: That would be 59-A. 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, that would be 59-A. 

Q. Now, commencing with 59-A your tabulation gives 
the voting figures obtained from the Board of Elections 
as of what date, sir? A. As of 1946 Congressional elec­
tions. 

Q. Is that also true of the January 2, 1946, panel? A. 
It is. 

Q. Any others 7 A. March 4, 194 7. 
Q. Now commence with the May 4, 1948, panel; what 

voting :figures did you supply? A. The 1948 Congressional 
elections. 

Q. As put out by the Board of Elections? A. That is 
correct. 

Q. That is true of the November 15, 1948, paneU A. 
Yes. 

Q. December 7, 1948, panel? A. Yes. 
Q. January 17, 1949, panel? A. Yes. 
Q. And the same is true of the February 1, 1949, panel, 

is that correct? A. Yes. 

(1987) Q. Will you run through these-

The Court: That is to say, that Exhibits 59, 
60 and 61 and 59-A, 60-A and 61-A were based, in 
so far as they relate to voting figures, upon the 1946 
Congressional elections ; and Exhibits 62, 62-A, 63, 
63-A, 64, 64-A, 65, 65-A, and 66 and 66-A are based 
upon the 1948 Congressional elections? 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, with this understanding, 
your Honor, that the exhibit, that is the map, does 
not give any voting figures, but the supplement, 
that is the document that takes the A designation 
for it, supplies the voting figures that your Honor 
has indica ted. 

The Court: That is right. 
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·Q. Now, look at the exhibits that cover the maps be­
ginning with February 1940, February 6, 1940, through 
October 16, 1944, as to which the 1944 election returns are 
used, what is the constant percentage of votes cast in the 
17th District as that vote bears upon the total vote cast 
in all of the J\tfanha ttan and Bronx Congressional Dis­
tricts~ A. Beginning with the February 6, 1940, did you 
say~ 

Q. Yes. From 1940 to October 1944? A. In all of which 
you used the same election returns. A. Yes. 

Q. What is the figure? A. For February 6, 1940, the 
17th Congressional (1988) District, or in that district 
were cast 11.2 per cent of the vote. 

Mr. McGohey: The 17th Election District did 
you say? 

The Court: No. Congressional District. 

Q. So this 11.2 per cent is the figure you have; is that 
right? A. Yes. 

Q. Now in 1946-

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I am sorry; 
it isn't quite clear. Is that a percentage of what 
figure~ 

The Court: I will tell you just exactly what 
that is. That is the percentage in that district of 
the votes cast in all the Congressional districts on 
the map, that is to say, in Manhattan and the Bronx. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is right, your Honor. In 
other words, the voters in the 17th Congressional 
District who cast votes in the 1944 Congressional 
elections cast a total representing 11.2 per cent of 
all votes cast in that election by the Bronx and 
Manhattan. 

The Court : That is right. 
Mr. McGohey: Well, how can that have any ref­

erence to 1940? 
The Court: Well, that is the hiatus that you 

have been referring to, but we will come to that 
after they develop the proof. But I realize that 
you got (1989) that point and I have it very 
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definitely in mind and so has Mr. Gladstein. But 
they must build these things up step by step, and 
whether or not that hiatus is material and signifi­
cant is something we will decide later . 

. Mr. Gladstein: Very well, your Honor. I may 
say that we will supply 1940 voting figures. 

Q. Now, the 1946 election based on the official report 
of the Board of I!Jlection returns, what percentage did you 
find cast of all the :Manhattan and Bronx votes by the 
J 7th Congressional District~ 

:Mr. JY1cGohey: In what year f 
The Court : 1946. 
:.Mr. McGahey: If your I-Ionor please, I am con­

fused. Are we referring now to this panel of Feb­
ruary 6, 1940? 

:Mr. Gladstein: No. At the moment I am refer­
ring only to the Congressional vote. 

The Court: I think I can explain that, 1\1r. 
:McGahey. They have proceeded here by what the 
witness claims is a proper statistical method of 
sampling. And part of the way in which they are 
seeking to build it up is to show, as they are now 
trying to, that this percentage remains the same 
and from that I am to draw certain inferences later 
on. I think that is what they are going to claim. 

(1990) .Mr. lVfcGohey: I understand what the 
point is. But what I am confused about llO'N is, as 
to what year l\fr. Gladstein is asking the witness 
about. 

:Mr. Gladstein: I think that was clear, but I 
will ask the question again. 

The Court: I think it is the 1946 Congressional 
elections. 

:Mr. Gladstein: That was all, your Honor. 
J\fr. l\1:cGohey: All right, then. 
The Court: IIe is asking him what is the per­

centage which the number of votes cast in the 17th 
Congressional District bears to the votes cast jn 
all the Congressional Districts in Manhattan and 
Bronx in 1946. 

Mr. Gladstein: Exactly, your Honor. 
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Q. Now what is that figure, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. The 
percentage is 11.2 per cent. 

Q. Exactly the same figure as it was in the 1944 elec­
tion, is that right, sir~ A. Yes. 

Q. What was the figure for the 1948 elections~ A. It 
is 10.7 per cent. 

Q. Now starting with the year 1940 and identifying 
each map as you go ahead, will you please tell us what 
percentage of the total number of jurors residing in Man­
hattan and Bronx whose names appeared on the panels 
that have been mapped here resided in the 17th Congres­
sional (1991) DistricV? A. On the panel February 6, 
1940, 49.8 per cent of the jurors residing in Bronx and 
!ianhattan lived in the 17th Congressional District, and 
the comparable percentage-need I repeat that~ 

Q. No. A. The comparable percentage for the panel 
of April14, 1941, is 62.2 per cent. 

For the panel of June 17, 1942, the percentage of the 
jurors living in the 17th Congressional District is 57 per 
cent. 

For the panel of August 9, 1943, the percentag·e is 45.2 
per cent. 

For the panel of October 16, 1944, 47.7 per cent of the 
jurors lived in the 17th Congressional District. 

For the panel of December 17, 1945, 48.6 per cent of 
the ::Manhattan and Bronx jurors lived in the 17th Con­
gressional District. 

For the panel of January 2, 1946, 43.5 per cent of the 
jurors lived in the 17th Congressional DistricL 

The Court : 43.5 ~ 
The Witness: 43.5 lived in the 17th Congres-

sional District . 

.A. (Continuing) For the panel of }\/[arch 4, 1947, 48.2 
per cent of the jurors lived in the 17th Congressional 
District. 

(1992) For the panel of May 4, 1948, 39.7 per cent of 
the jurors lived in the 17th Congressional District. 

In each case I am referring to the jurors living at that 
time in Manhattan and Bronx. 

Q. Yes. A. For the panel of November 15, 1948, 38.6 
per cent. 
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Q. 30 or 38 ~ A. 38.6 per cent of the lYfanhattan and 
Bronx jurors lived in the 17th Congressional District. 

For the panel of December 7, 1948, 40.5 per cent of the 
11anhattan and Bronx jurors lived in the 17th Congres­
sional District. 

For the panel of January 17, 1949, 38.5 per cent of the 
1fanhattan and Bronx jurors lived in the 17th Congres­
sional District. 

And for the psnel of February 1, 1949, the percentage 
is 39.9 per cent. 

* * * 
Q. I -vvant to ask you a question, ~1:r. \Vilkerson, about 

the map of January 17, 1949, and the tabulation which 
you have, which would be No.- A. 66. 

(1992-A) The Court: No. 66 is the February 
1, 1949. 

1\fr. Gladstein: 65-A. 

Q. Therefore, I am asking you about 65-A. Does that 
tabulation refer to the first list or panel of jurors, or to 
the second, or to both~ A. That refers to both listings 
for the panel. 

(1993) Q. Do you have that breakdown as between the 
first and the second~ A. I do not have it here, no. 

Q. It could be done very easily, could it not~ A. Yes. 
Q. Merely a matter of counting up the pins, totaling 

up the black pins in one and the red pins in another, is 
that right? A. That is right. 

Q. Am I correct that Harlem is located in the 22nd 
Congressional District~ A. It might be a little bit n1ore 
exact to say that the 22nd is in the heart of what is generally 
referred to as Harlem. 

Q. Is that the area which generally speaking the Negro 
people of this city are largely concentrated 1 A. Yes. 

Q. Now, will you go through this series of tabulations 
and first of all I want you to indicate what the percentage 
of votes cast in 1944, 1946 and 1948 from the 22nd Con­
gressional District-how it relates to the entire vote~ A. 
For each of the panels~ 

Q. Well, actually for three votes. A. Oh I see. 
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Q. Because each of those votes covers a series of maps 
which you have already indicated in the record, isn't that 
corre.ct ~ A. Yes. 

Q. All right. A. The 1944-

The Court: He is comparing the 22nd with other 
(1994) districts~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, it is the same kind of com­
parison, your Honor, that has been made for the 
17th. 

The Court: I see. All right. 

A. (Continuing) 1944, the Congressional vote in the 22nd 
Congressional District was 6. 7 per cent of the vote in all 
of the Manhattan, Bronx Congressional Districts. 

Q. What was it in 19461 A. In 1946, it was 5.4 per 
cent. 

Q. What was it in 19481 A. In 1948 it was 6.5 per 
cent. 

Q. All right. Now ·will you proceed to tell us what 
the percentage was of jurors on the panels that have been 
mapped, and the maps for which have been received in 
evidence, percentage of jurors coming from the 22nd Con­
gressional District in terms of the entire Manhattan, Bronx 
resident jurors on those panels 1 A. For each of the map 
of panels1 

Q. Yes, if you will, just the same as you did as to the 
17th. A. The percentage for the February 6th map of 
jurors who lived-

Q. February 6, 19401 A. 1940. 

The Court: That is Exhibit 54. 

A. (Continuing) Of jurors who lived in the 22nd (1995) 
District is 4/10ths of one per cent. For the panel of April 
14, 1941, the comparable percentage is 8/lOths of one per 
cent. For the· panel of June 17, 1942, the comparable per­
centage is 2 per cent. 

Q. 2 per cent 1 A. Yes, 2.0. 
Q. Which date is that, sir1 A. This is June 17, 1942. 
Q. All right. A. For the panel of August 9, 1943, 1.2 

per cent of the Manhattan-Bronx jurors lived in the 22nd 
Congressional District. 
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For the panel of October 16, 1944, the comparable 
proportion is 1.1 per cent. 

For the panel of December 17, 1945, the proportion is 
9/lOths of one per cent. 

For the panel of January 2, 1946, the comparable 
proportion is 3j10ths of one per cent. 

For the panel of ~larch 4, 1947, 6/10ths of one per cent 
of the Manhattan-Bronx jurors lived in the 22nd Congres­
sional District. 

For May 4, 1948, the comparable proportion is 6j10ths 
of one per cent. 

For November 15, 1948, the comparable proportion is 
4/lOths of one per cent. 

For December 7, 1948, the proportion is 6/10ths of 
(1996) one per cent. 

For January 17, 1949, the comparable proportion is 
4/10ths of one per cent. 

And on the February 1st, 1949 panel, one per cent of 
the Manhattan-Bronx jurors lived in the 22nd Congres­
sional District. 

Q. Now, the area which is generally known as the Lower 
East Side-is that comparable to the 19th Congressional 
District, Mr. Wilkerson? A. Yes. 

Q. Will you state what the election figures were per­
centagewise in 1944, 1946 and 1948 for that Congressional 
District~ 

The Court: Is this the 16th 1 
Mr. Gladstein: The 19th, your Honor. 
The Court : All right. 

A. In 1944, 7.4 per cent of the Congressional vote was cast 
in the 19th Congressional District. 

The Court: 7.4? 
The Witness: That is correct. 

A. (Continuing) In 1946, 7.3 per cent of the total Manhat­
tan-Bronx Congressional vote was cast in the 19th Congres­
sional District. 

And i~ 1948 7.9 per cent of the Manhattan-Bronx Con­
gressional vote was cast in the 19th Congressional Dis­
trict. 
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(1997) Q. Now will you state what the percentage was 
of jurors coming from the 19th Congressional District in 
respect of each of the panels for which maps were made 
and have been introduced~ A. On the panel of February 
6, 1940, 4j10ths of one per cent of the Manhattan-Bronx 
jurors lived in the 19th Congressional District. Com­
parable proportions are for the panel of April 14, 1941, 
1.6 per cent; for the panel of June 17, 1942, 2.8 per cent; 
for the panel of August 9, 1943, 1.2 per cent; for the panel 
of August 16, 1944, 2.6 per cent; for the panel of Decem­
ber 17, 1945, 1.8 per cent; for the panel of January 2, 1946, 
3.1 per cent; for the panel of March 4, 1947, 2.2 per cent; 
for the panel of May 5, 1948, 6 j10ths of one per cent; for 
the panel of November 15, 1948, 3.4 per cent; for the panel 
of December 7, 1948, z·ero per cent; for the panel of J anu­
ary 17, 1949, 2 per cent; and for the panel of February 1, 
1949, one per cent of the Manhattan-Bronx jurors lived 
in the 19th Congressional District. 

Q. Now, I want you to turn your attention to the 
neighborhoods in which the map shows particular clusters 
of pins all embraced within the 17th Congressional Dis­
trict. Would you take a pointer, and perhaps that would 
assist the Court-

(1998) The Court: This is back to the 17th? 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, your I-Ionor. 

Q. (Continuing)-and give the figures as you go along, 
Mr. Wilkerson, and point them out to the Court, if you 
will. Do you have a pointer~ A. I have a pointer. May 
I understand the question~ 

The Court: Now, he has already given a certain 
amount of data based on what the witness considers 
to be the neighborhood of Central Park \Vest, the 
neighborhood of Fifth Avenue, or east of Fifth 
Avenue, Fifth Avenue East, the neighborhood of 
South Central Park, the neighborhood that he calls 
Sutton, Beekman, Tudor, and the neighborhood of 
Washington Square Park. 

Mr. Gladstein: Washington Square Park. 
The Court: That is what you are bringing him 

back to now? 
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Mr. Gladstein: Just for the purpose of indicat­
ing how the thing proceeds year by year, your 
Honor. 

The Witness: May I ask whether you are asking 
for particular figures for each of the sub-areas that 
you are talking a bout 1 

Q. If you have them. I see these tabulations. It seems 
to me that- A. I have them, yes. 

Q. All right, if you have them. A. And do you want 
(1999) me to proceed by areas for all of the maps or map 
by map for areas? 

Q. I would like you to take the 17th first and do a 
complete job on that, Mr. Wilkerson. A. For all the maps' 

The Court: Hasn't he got that down on these 
sheets~ As I look at them I seem to see just what 
you are speaking of. 

Mr. Gladstein: Perhaps we can simplify this, 
your Honor: What I would lik·e· to ask the witness 
to do, using the tabulations and pointing to the 
maps, is to indicate what the facts are, as shown by 
the maps and the tabulation with respect to, say, an 
area like Fifth A venue. 

The Court: But he has got that. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, he has it here· in the exhibit, 

that is true. 
The Court: That is what I mean. 
Mr. Gladstein: I understand that he has, but 

I want to have the record show, your Honor, the 
manner in which the figures as they proceed year 
to year establish a certain persistency of pattern 
and uniformity of pattern. 

The Court: All I need do is look at the papers 
to see that, and you may argue that or brief it in 
the customary way. 

(2000) Mr. Gladstein: Very well, your Honor. 
If those are sufficiently clear-

The Court: You may state what your conten­
tion is about it if you desire now, and that probably 
will suffice. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Well, perhaps I can do that. 

* * * 
(D,efendants' Challenge Exhibits 57 to 66 for 

identification, inclusive, received in evidence; and 
Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 57-A to 66-A for 
identification, inclusive, received in evidence.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, the point I want to call 
to your Honor's attention is thafif you examine each 
of these exhibits which are designated "A", com­
mencing with 54 and running through 66, I think it 
is, you will find that in every single one of these 
panels every year you not only get this tremendous 
proportion of jurors from the 17th Congressional 
District as high as more than 50 per cent in some 
instances and never lower than about 40 per cent 
or 39 per cent of the entire panel covering (2001) 
Manhattan and Bronx, also bearing in mind that 
the number of voters in the 17th is much less than 
in some other areas and must be considered in the 
light of what we know the facts to be concerning 
Harlem, the Low,er East Side, and so on-not only 
do you find that tremendous disproportion where the 
17th Congressional District provides 40 to 50 per 
cent or more of all the jurors, whereas in contrast 
you get about one per cent or few,er from places 
like Harlem or the East Side, but in addition there 
is an inner or double concentration within the 17th 
Congressional District. As the witness has pointed 
out, that district is a rather large one; that is to say, 
it embraces a large area, and it is irregular in shape 
at the borders, and therefore it does-it is natural 
and it is true that it includes a number of different 
areas, neighborhoods. There are portions that are 
occupied by poor people because those houses on 
the outskirts, certain portions near the 17th-

Mr. McGohey: I object to this testimony, your 
Honor. There is not anything in the record from 
any witness about this. 

The Court: I think that is right. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, I wasn't intending to 

testify. I was merely stating the facts. 
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Mr. McGohey: You were doing a pretty good 
job (2002) of it. 

The Court: It did seem as though you were 
perhaps wandering into factual matter that did not 
appear, but I think your contention about this is 
sufficiently clear to me. I see what you will later 
ask to have me infer, or I think I do, and I believe 
that what you desire to prove now is sufficiently 
disclosed in these papers, these exhibits. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I add only this, your Honor, 
that in the 17th there are these particular neighbor­
hoods or areas the witness has called attention to, 
and I will ask your Honor to note when you are 
studying these exhibits the persistence with which 
the jurors are concentrated in the Central Park 
West area, in the Fifth .A venue area, in the Sut­
ton area, in the Washington Square area, and also 
with respect to other districts than the 17th, your 
Honor will notice that certain particular districts, 
such as Riverside, West End or the Highbridge, or 
the New York University-Fordham area, or the 
London Terrace area, areas of that sort, which are 
heavily represented within particular districts on 
~ach and all of these panels without any exception 
whatsoever. 

Now, I will ask-
Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, I would like to point 

(2003) out that among the contentions that the 
:figures cited by Mr. Wilkerson indicate that although 
the percentag~e of the total vote cast in Manhattan 
and the Bronx in Congressional elections in the 17th 
Congressional District was less than twice as much 
as the percentage of votes cast in the 22nd, the 17th 
Congressional District got 125 times as much rBpre­
sentation on the jury panel as the 22nd got on the 
panel of February 6, 1940; that the 17th got 75 
times as much representation on the panel of April 
14, 1941; 25 times as much representation on the 
panel of June 17, 1942; 40 timBs as much representa­
tion on the panel of August 9, 1943; 42 times as much 
representation on the panel of October 16, 1944; 
50 times as much r-epresentation on the panel of 
December 17, 1945, and so on down the line. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, I observe that on the maps for 
the early years, 1940, 1941, 1942 and so on, there is no 
distinct outstanding cluster of pins in the Bronx; is that 
a correct observation~ A. That is correct. 

Mr. M,cGohey: vVhat was the year you men­
tioned~ 

Mr. Gladstein: 1940, 1941, 1942 and so on. I 
said in the early years. 

Q. Now, it appears that comm,encing with the year 
(2004) 1947 and going through particularly 1948 and 1949, 
that situation changed, is that right~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Now, first of all I call your attention to-well, take 
the panel for January 17, 1949, the date when this trial was 
about to commence. I see there a very large cluster of 
pins in the Bronx. Do you know what area that repre­
sents~ 

The Court: He says that is the Parkchester 
Development. 

:Q. Is that the Parkchester Developmentf A. Park­
chester Development. 

The Court: You see, I remember all that. You 
don't have to take him over the same things. I 
sometimes remember these things. 

Q. Now, is that the same cluster that is found in 1948 
and in one of the maps of 1947~ A. It is, and I have here 
two additional 1948 maps that you don't have before you 
which show the same cluster. 

Q. In 1948 ~ A. Yes. 
Q. Do you have figures for those~ A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: Can your Honor see those from 
there~ 

( 2005) The Court : I remember them very well. 

Q. Do you know anything about that Parkchester De­
velopment 1 A. Son1e things, yes. 
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Q. Do you know it by sight~ You have seen itf A. 
Yes. 

Q. Do you have any information concerning it~ A. 
Yes. 

Q. Do you know who operates it~ A. I do. 
Q. Will you state? A. The Metropolitan Life Insurance 

Company. 
Q. And did you obtain any facts concerning that de-

velopment from that company? A. I did. 
Q. And what facts did you obtain concerning the nature 

of that development~ 

Mr. McGahey: I object to any such answer as 
that. It is hearsay. 

The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, I can say this, your Honor: 

we can, of course, if the Court insists, if Mr. Mc­
Gohey insists, subpoena and bring to court a repre­
sentative of the Metropolitan Company. I realize 
that if technic ali ties are going to be insisted upon 
we can do that, and we will, your Honor. However, 
all that the witness was being asked to do was to 
testify to material obtained from that company 
and which is put out by that company as its official 
and factual statem·ent of the facts concerning that 
development. 

The Court: I don't consider that admissible. 
(2006) 1:Ir. Gladstein: In that form you mean f 
The Court: Yes. I don't know just what you 

contend. Do you contend that that is a place where 
rich people live? 

Mr. Gladstein: Wouldn't it be better to hear 
what the witness has to say, your Honor~ 

The Court: I don't know. I suppose it is al­
ways better to hear from the witness when his testi­
mony is relevant and competent, which in this case 
I hold it is not. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, we will, if your Honor 
requires it, produce a witness-

The Court: I don't require anything. I am a 
little puzzled by this line of proof. -I suppose it 
raises a clear question of law. 1 never understood 
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that there was any requirement that the jury panel 
be made up in any particular way or with any par­
ticular proportion from any particular part of the 
district. Now, perhaps I may be enlightened on 
that. But however that may be, I am going to take 
the proof. That s,eems to me to raise a question 
of law. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, your Honor's ruling at 
the present time is that this witness cannot testify­

The Court: Yes. He brings a lot of literature 
from the Metropolitan Life Insurance Company. 
What does that prov,e ~ 

(2007) Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
The Court: And, frankly, to show where all the 

poor people Jive, where all the rich people liv·e, 
where all the medium income people live would in­
volve an amount of proof utterly out of any form 
of reasonable handling; and I have great doubt as 
to whether when you got through it would prove 
anything of consequence. 

Mr. Gladstein: VVhy, your Honor, of course, each 
part of our case will have to be considered in con­
nection with other parts of the case. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: As your Honor knows, but per­

haps it is necessary for me to remind your Honor 
at this point in the record, we are stating that since 
about 1940, as a result of deliberate exclusion-

The Court: Please don't go in again about how 
corrupt the system is and how awful Judge Knox 
is. Please don't do that again. You have said that 
and your colleagues have said it many times, and 
it is perfectly obvious to me that you claim that 
the whole system is entirely illegal and bad and 
illegally administered. 

Now that covers everything from one end to the 
·other, and I don't propose to listen to it all over 
again every day. I know just what your conten­
tions are, and (2008) they are in your challenge. 
The paper is readable and clear, and I know just ex­
actly what it is. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 
Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, on Friday when I was ques­

tioning you you stated that some charts had been prepared 
by which there was graphic depiction or pictorial repre­
sentation of certain facts concerning the population, certain 
facts concerning the jurors with respect to their occupa­
tional classifications. Do you recall that testimony~ A. 
Yes. 

Q. Now, do you have a list of the charts that were pre­
pared~ .A. I think I do have. 

Mr. Isserman: If your Honor please, before we 
leave the subject of these maps, there are one or two 
questions I would like to ask Mr. Wilkerson to clear 
up one point. May I do that before we get into 
something else 1 

The Court: You may do that. 
Mr. Isserman: May I do that~ 
The Court : Yes. 

By Mr. lsserman: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, would you look at Exhibit No. 65 · 
with particular reference to the 19th Congressional Dis­
trict. I think your table shows that there were nine (2009) 
jurors in that district. A. That is correct. 

Q. Now, can you t·ell me how many of those jurors lived 
in the district south of 14th Street~ A. Two. 

The Court : What did he say~ I did not hear 
him. 

The Witness: Two south of 14th Street in the 
19th Congressional District. 

Q. And I call your attention to the fact that most of the 
pins in the 19th Congressional District are along a line on 
the west boundary of that district, and from where I am 
looking above the figure 19, indicating the district, as it 
appears on the map, can you look and tell us in approxi­
mately what streets those jurors appear who are not below 
14th Street~ A. These jurors are-
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Q. Speak up, Mr. Wilkerson. Do you know which ones 
I refer to~ A. You are referring I think to the jurors 
above this point in the 19th District (indicating). 

Q. Those are above 14th Street, that is right. A. Those 
are above 14th Street. 

Q. Would you tell me approximately what street you 
find the jurors on~ A. Almost entirely, I believe every one 
of them is towards the west end of the block between Second 
Av,enue and Third Avenue, right on the border of the 
19th Congressional District. 

(2010) Q. And running from what cross street to what 
cross street, if you can give it to us~ A. Running from 
about 8th Street to 34th Street. 

Q. You mean 8th or 18th Street~ A. More accurately, 
running from 16th Street to 34th Street. 

Q. And at that point on 16th Street there is an area 
known as Stuyvesant Square, is there not~ A. Yes. 

Q. Now, the jurors living frorr1 16th up to the 30s do 
not live in an area known as the Lower East Side, do 
they~ A. That is correct. 

Q. And could you between now and tomorrow morn­
ing give us a breakdown of the 19th Congressional Dis­
trict showing which of the jurors you have referred to live 
below 14th Street and those which live above 14th Street1 
Could you make that tabulation? A. Yes. 

Mr. Isserman: Thank you. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. I started to ask you, 1\fr. Wilkerson, for a list, if 
you have it handy, of charts prepared that will simply 
represent pictorially the occupational classifications of the 
jurors in respect of those jury lists that have been sub­
jected to that study. A. It is charts you are asking fort 

(2011) Q. Charts, yes. A. I do not have in one place 
those charts but I will tell you if you will just hold it a 
minute. There are, I think, exactly 14 charts, one big one, 
13 small ones, which relate to this general subject-is this 
the information you are asking~ 

Q. Yes, that is what I want to know first. Do you have 
that many charts? A. Yes. 
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Q. Now, before preparing any such charts what data 
was utilized and tabulated~ A. Well, several types of 
data. 

Q. Will you indicate what they were and the use to 
which they were put~ A. Well, in the first place we sought 
information concerning the distribution among occupa­
tional groups of the gainfully employed population or the 
Southern District of New York. That information was 
one of the basis elements that went into the preparation 
of these charts, not only their numbers but particularly 
in the charts their percentage distribution among certain 
occupational groups. The second type-

Q. What was the source-

The Witness: Pardon me. 
Mr. Gladstein: Go ahead . 

.A. (Continuing) The second type of information that the 
charts reflect is the occupational distribution (2012) of 
persons chosen for petit jury service in the Southern Dis­
trict among the same categories or occupations. 

Q. Now, with respect to the first of the two that you 
have mentioned, was census data used for that purpose? 
.A. Yes. 

Q. And with respect to the second, where did you ob­
tain the information concerning the occupations of the 
jurors~ A. The official lists of jurors indicate the occu­
pation beside the name of each juror. 

Q. Al right. Now will you describe just how this pro­
cess of preparation took place~ 

The Court: Now, before you do that. Mr. Glad­
stein, how do you get around the reasoning of Judge 
Hall in that case of United States against Local 36? 

Mr. Gladstein: I don't think it applies here at 
all, your Honor. 

The Court: You don't think it has anything to 
do with classifications of occupations~ 

Mr. Gladstein: I think that that case in the first 
instance is wholly differentiated from this factually; 
and secondly I call your Honor's attention to the 
fact that it is on appeal from-
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The Court: Well, it has not yet been reversed, 
and perhaps it may never be. 

(2013) Mr. Gladstein: That is possible. At the 
same time there is a decision with which we have 
made your Honor familiar of a three-judge court on 
which Judge John Biggs of the Third Circuit sat 
as presiding judge of the three, and your Honor will 
note that the decision which carries a good deal, I 
would submit, greater authority than the decision 
of Judge I-Iall, is one that is based partially upon 
the racial exclusion in the I-Iawaiian Islands from 
the grand jury-in that case it was the Filipino 
people who were excluded-and partially upon the 
fact that the grand jury there had been made a de­
fective organ of what the judges call the entre­
peneur-employer group and their salaried employes. 

(2014) The Court: There seemed to be quite a 
different situation. But what I was asking about had 
to do with these classifications. I have heard certain 
trials since I have been on this court where, oh, 
days and days have been taken up with testimony 
of classifications of workers, these wage and hour 
cases, and it seems to me to be a most complicated 
thing. And you apparently seek to take certain 
Census classifications and then on the other hand 
take certain descriptions that appear on the jury 
lists as though they were necessarily the same. And 
it seems to me that ,Judge Hall decided that yon 
couldn't do that. And I an1 quite at a loss to see, 
when you consider all the factors that go into this 
personnel matter and occupational status matter 
and the different mental attitude of one person or 
another in making up the classification that no one 
could ever really get at the bottom of it, whether that 
data is of any value. 

Mr. Gladstein: Would your Honor like me to 
address myself to that question in your mind~ 

The Court: Well, I really asked what was the 
answer to Judge Hall's decision on that. You say 
that it is up on appeal, which is doubtless your 
way of saying that you disagree with what he held 
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and think he is wrong, which, of course, you have a 
right, and also that you (2015) feel that the 
other decision in the Hawaiian case bears upon the 
subject too. So I think perhaps we can drop it 
there and you go ahead with your proof. 

1'lr. Gladstein: Very well, your I-Ionor. 

By Mr. Glads-tein: 

Q. I had started to ask you, Mr. Wilkerson, to describe 
in general and in a brief way how you went about prepar­
ing the data, where it came from and what you did. A. 
Well, first, it was necssary to agree upon certain occupa­
tional categories that would be used as a frame of refer­
ence. And if you will let n1e have certain documents there 
which have been submitted in evidence I think I might 
make clearer to the Court precisely-

Q. I will be very happy to do that. Which do you want~ 
A. The two that you have in your hand. Also the supple­
ment to the Census volume, the 16th Census on the labor 
force. 

Q. Two of these I have in my hand. They are Exhibits 
16 and 17 for identification. A. Then there is a large, 
soft-I mean, paper-backed report. 

Q. \iVhat is that entitled~ A. It is the 16th Census 
report, one of those, with the labor force as its sub-title. 

(2016) Q. Can you proceed without the last for a mo­
ment until we look for it~ A. I can. 

Q. AI right. A. I just want to make sure I don't have 
it here. All right. 

You will find that the Census Bureau enumerates gain­
fully employed persons 14 years of age and older by cer­
tain occupational groupings. I think it well to point out 
~be occupational groupings that they use prior to defin­
Ing-

Q. (Handing to witness.) A. Thank you. 

The Court : That is the Census f 
The Witness: The Census. What I have here, 

your Honor is the 16th Census of the United States, 
1940 population, Third Series, The Labor Force, 
occupation, industry employment income, New York. 
It has already been entered as an exhibit. 
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Mr. McGohey: If it has been rnarked would you 
let us know what the identification is~ 

The Witness: You mean this Challenge Exhibit 
9, is that right~ 

The Court: 9 for identification. 
Mr. l\icGohey: Exhibit 9 for identification . 

.A. Now, turning to-1et us use the title that we use for 
these (referring to exhibit). All right. The data of the 
Census report are grouped under general (2017) cate­
gories first. The first of these, for example, is, professional 
and semi-professional and semi-professional workers, fol­
lowing which-

Mr. McGohey: May I have Mr. Wilkerson indi­
cate the page of that exhibit that he is reading from¥ 

* * 
The Witness: .All right. At this moment I hap­

pen to be looking at Table X, page 24. 

* * 
.A. The initial category, general category is that of pro­
fessional and semi-professional workers, following which 
there are a number of occupational groups listed which 
fall within that general category. 

Q. Illustrate them. 

The Court: Professional and semi-professional? 
The Witness: That is right. 

(2018) Q. Will you illustrate them, please. .A. Ac­
tresses, for example; artists and art teachers. Authors, 
reporters. Dentists. Judges. Librarians. Musicians. So­
cial welfare workers, trained nurses. And other profes­
sional workers . 

.Also included in there, if you want to make it clear, are 
designers and draftsmen, and other semi-professional 
workers. 

I might say that the category of semi-professional 
workers, professional workers, is much broader than the 
ones we have listed here. You find even a prizefighter is 
listed as a semi-professional worker. They do happen 
not to be in such detail in this particular table. 
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The Court : I think most of them consider that 
they are full professionals. 

The Witness: But this is just to illustrate the 
category. 

A. (Continuing) The first category we are calling atten­
tion to is professional, semi-professional workers. 

Q. In other words, according to the Unned States 
Census, a group of occupations all of which-well, which 
you have enumerated or read some of them, are grouped 
together and called professional and semi-professional 
types of work? A. That is correct. 

Q. What is the next one? A. There then follows the 
(2019) category known as farmers and farm managers 
which for purposes of the analysis you are about to have 
me report we ignored, for obvious reasons, in this metro­
politan community. 

Q. That is, there were no farmers and no farm man­
agers in Manhattan and Bronx eitheT on the juries or in 
the population, is that right~ 

n1r. McGohey: I object to that. 

A. That is correct. 

l\1:r. McGahey: Your I-Ionor, there is no evidence 
as to that at all. 

The Witness: Very \Vell. 
The Court: Sustained. The witness is willing 

to let that go. 
Mr. l\!fcGohey: Sir? 
The Court: I say, he is willing to let that go. 

He says, ''Very well.'' 
Mr. Gladstein: I will admit, your Honor­
The Witness: The fact is-
The Court: That is all right. Go ahead. 
M:r. Gladstein: I am an outsider, but I am try­

ing to learn about J\fanhattan and the Bronx I 
haven't yet heard that you have any big farms in 
either Manhattan or the Bronx. 

The Witness: The fact is-
(2020) The Court: He said, "Very well." So 

let us get along. 
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The Witness: I think I should make clear my 
position on that specific point. It is really of no 
significance to our analysis, but the technical fact 
is that the Census does list some farmers for New 
York City, a very few. One wonders where they 
are. But, technically, there are some farms in New 
York City. 

The Court: But you felt that under the circum­
stances there were so few that you ignored them 1 

The Witness: Precisely. I can tell you precise­
ly how many there were in 1940 if you want to. 

The Court: Oh, I take comparatively little in­
terest in farmers and farm managers at the moment. 
So you may pass on to the next classification. 

Mr. Gladstein : Very well. 

A. The next general• category is that of proprietors, mana­
gers and officials, except farmers. Farm owners and 
managers are excluded from this category, and they are 
excluded not by me but by the Census report in this in­
stance which includes miscellaneous specified managers, 
officials-proprietors, managers and officials not otherwise 
specified, and manufacturing, eating and drinking-

Q. I think you had better- A. I wonder-just a min­
ute, Mr. Gladstein. Do you think it is essential (2021) 
for us to read all of these~ 

Q. Just by illustration, give us a few to indicate what 
that covers. A. All right. 

Mr. Gladstein: I would suggest at this point, 
perhaps it would be wiser to do this so the record 
will be complete : I would like to offer in evidence 
the .Exhibit 9 for identification and also 16 and 
17 which were utilized in this connection. 

Mr. McGohey: ·No objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 9, 16 and 17 
for identification received in evidence.) 

A. I have indicated, I think that the third major grouping 
in the Census report and the second one with which we 
were here concerned is that of proprietors, managers and 
officials excluding those on farms. The next general one 
then is-
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Q. Before you pass to that, I would like you to indicate 
by skipping through that list-don't repeat them all-the 
type of occupation that the Census Bureau lists as coming 
within the occupational group of executives, proprietors or 
whatever they are called. 

Mr. McGahey: Not ''executives.'' 

Q. Leave out ''executives.'' A. Proprietors, managers 
and officials. 

Q. Pro,prietors, managers and officials, all right. 

(2022) ~Ir. McGohey: The exhibit is now in 
evidence, and if we are going to have discussion 
about anything that is in there let us have them all. 

Nir. Gladstein: No objection. 

Q. Read them all, if you will. A. I think it would be 
good-

Q. All right, do that. A. -because the Census classi­
fication is a little bit different in some respects from the 
popular thinking on these subjects, and particularly as 
they are true of this category that you are talking about. 

The Court : Go ahead, read it. 

A. So, proprietors, managers and officials, excluding 
farmers, includes here-

The Court: Do it slowly so the reporter can get 
it because this is the kind of reading that is a little 
hard to take down. 

A. Conductors on railroads, paymasters and miscellaneous 
government officials. Other specific managers and officials, 
proprietors, managers and officials not otherwise specified, 
in mining, construction, manufacturing. Transportation, 
communication and utilities. Wholesale trade, eating and 
drinking places. Retail trade, except eating and drinking 
places. Finance, insurance and real estate. (2023) Busi­
ness and repair services. Personal services, miscellaneous 
industries and services. 
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And again I think I should point out that these are 
merely the categories used for tabulation purposes and 
they themselves represent sub-classifications of a much 
more detailed listing that the census have been utilizing. 

Q. In other words, if it says "finance," if you went 
to a sub-classification under ''finance'' you would find-
A. You would find a portion-yes. 

Q. For example, in other words, a person who was in 
the field of finance and \Vas in that group of directors, 
et cetera-is that what is says, ''Directors''~ A. No. 

Q. Proprietors~ A. Proprietors, managers, officials. 
·Q. Proprietors, all right. Then there would be a break­

down underneath ''Finance'' to show the particular field 
in :finance in which he was a proprietor or manager, is that 
rjght~ A. There is a breakdown, yes, of each industry. 

(Recess.) 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

* * * 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, you had indicated what the 
Census table shows as to the type of occupation embraced 
within the category managers, proprietors, et cetera. 
(2024) Will you quickly indicate the other main cate·­
gories referred to in the Census tables~ A. Yes. May I 
m.ake this explanation 7 At one point I said I was reading 
from Table-I forget what it was-

The Court: 10. 
The Witness: 10. Oh, yes. But from page 24, 

or was it 22-
]\fr. lYicGohey: 24 you said. 
The Witness: .At another time I was reading 

from 25, where the same general categories are; 
but it should be pointed out that neither of these 
is a complete list of the occupations under these 
general categories. On one side of the page is fe­
rnale, the other side is male, except categories vary 
with the sexes. And what we are doing then is 
merely giving illustrations of what is included under 
professional, managerial and so on. 
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Q. Thank you. A. If the Court wants a complete state­
ment we have that readily acceptable. 

Q. Well, that is in the exhibit actually, isn't it~ A. 
That is right. 

Q. All right. A. Following the Census category of 
proprietors, managers and officials there is the general 
category of clerical, sales and kindred workers. And read­
ing no\v from page 25 of this-

The Court: And kindred what~ 
(2025) The Witness: Workers. 
The Court : Yes. 

A. (Continuing) Are these sub-categories on the male side 
of the page. Baggage men, express messengers and rail­
way mail clerks. Bookkeepers, accountants, cashiers, 
ticket agents. Mail carriers. Messengers, except express 
messengers. Office machine operators. Shipping and re­
ceiving clerks. Stenographers, typists and secretaries. 
Telegraph operators. Telephone operators. Other cler­
ical and kindred workers. Canvassers and solicitors. 
Hucksters, peddlers. Newsboys. Insurance agents and 
brokers. Real estate agents and brokers. Other sales 
agents and brokers. Other salesmen. 

I have read here the sub-categories for male workers 
listed on page 25 of Table X-A, which again I must insist 
is not complete but illustrative of what is included in this 
category. 

Q. In the category of sales, clerical and kindred work­
ers. A. That is right. 

Q. What is the next general category~ A. The next 
general category is that of craftsmen, foremen and kindred 
workers. And listed under male are these: Bakers. 
Blacksn1iths, forgemen, hammermen. Boilermakers. Cab­
inet makers and pattern makers. Carpenters. Compositors 
and type setters. Electricians. Foremen not otherwise 
(2026) classified in construction industry, manufacturing 
industry, transportation, communications and utilities. 
Miscellaneous industries and services. 

The Court : Which do these come under~ 
The Witness: These are all under the category 

of craftsmen, foremen, kindred workers. Male. 
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.A. (Continuing) Moving on from foremen: Inspectors. 
Locomotive engineers. Locomotive firemen. Do you want 
me to continue? 

Q. Well, that indicates the type of occupation or job 
that is embraced within the general category of craftsmen 
and foremen, is that right~ A. Yes. And it includes also 
painters, plasterers, tailors, and many others that I am· 
not reading. 

Q. All right. However, they are to be found within 
the table that you are reading from; is that right~ A. 
That is correct. 

Q. What exhibit is that? Exhibit 9 ~ A. This is Ex­
hibit 9. 

·Q. Will you indicate the next general category appear­
ing in the Census table~ A. It is a category of operatives 
and kindred workers. And reading now from page 26, 
male, it includes such as these-there are very many, and 
I won't read them all: Apprentices, attendants at filling 
stations, parking lots and airports. Brakemen and 
(2027) switchmen. Chauffeurs, conductors. Dressmakers 
and seamstresses, not in factory. Laundry operatives and 
laundresses except in private family. Linemen, power 
station operatives, sailors and deckhands, except in United 
States Navy. Welders and flame cutters. Other specified 
operatives and kindred workers. And there follows a whole 
list of operatives in manufacturing and industries. Just 
to give a sample or so: operatives in the food and kindred 
products industry; in tobacco, manufacturing, in lumber, 
in paper, chemicals and so on. And then operatives in 
non-manufacturing industries and services. These are 
illustrations of the occupations included under the Census 
category, operatives and kindred workers, male. 

Q. What is the next general category~ A. The next 
general category is that of domestic service workers, and 
in this particular table that is not broken down in any 
further detail. 

The next general category is that of protective service 
workers which includes firemen in Fire Departments, 
guards and watchmen, policemen service, maintenance. 
Soldiers, sailors, Marines and Coast Guards. 

There is next a category of service workers inclusive 
of domestic and protective service workers. 
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Q. What is that listed by~ A. That includes barbers, 
(2028) beauticians, manicurists. Boarding house and 
lodging housekeepers. Char women, janitors, porters, cooks 
except in a private family. Elevator operators. House­
keepers, stewards. Hostesses except in private family. 
Professional nurses, midwife's services except in private 
family. Waiters and bartenders, and other service work· 
ers, except domestic and protective. . 

Q. Any other general category~ A. The next general 
category is that of farm laborers and foremen which for 
purposes of this analysis we ignore. 

The next general category is that of laborers except 
on farms and in mines. This includes also quite a string 
of-I will read just a few: Fishermen, oystermen. Long-­
shoremen. Lumbermen, raftsmen, wood choppers. Other 
specified laborers. Then, laborers by industry. The con­
struction industry. A long list of manufacturing indus­
tries and of non-manufacturing industries. 

These are perhaps adequate to give you an idea of 
what is included in the Census category of laborers. That 
concludes the main-the listing of the main categories in 
which these Census data are reported. Now-pardon me. 

Q. Have you co1npleted with your reading from there? 
A. Yes. 

Q. Now in connection with the charts that I have 
(2029) asked you about, what, if anything was done to 
use the Census Table classification or groupings 1 A. Yes, 
what we did was to accept certain of these Census cate­
gories as they are listed in the Census. 

Q. Which ones~ A. The category of professional and 
semi-professional ·workers we treated as one category. 

Q. Yes. A. The category of managers, officials and 
proprietors-! think it is proprietors, managers and offi­
cials we treated as one category. 

Q. Yes. A. The category of clerical, sales and kindred 
workers we treated as one category. 

Q. Just as the Census does~ A. Just as the Censrrs 
does. 

Q. So that those three were used just as the Census 
had~ A. Exactly. 

Q. What else~ A. Now, the remaining categories which 
I read we grouped together. That includes the categories 
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of craftsmen, foremen and kindred workers, operatives and 
kindred workers, domestic service workers, protective 
service workers, service workers except domestic and pro­
tective, and laborers except farmers. Those four cate­
gories we grouped together under the general rubric of 
all manual workers-

The Court : You mean those six. 
The Witness: Did I say four 1 
(2030) The Court: You said four. 
The Witness: I mean six. Those categories I 

did not mean to specify. One, two, three, four, five, 
six Census groupings which we here grouped to­
gether under the general heading of manual workers. 

Q . .All right. A. So that gives us four general cate­
gories in which we proceed to make analyses. The category 
of proprietors, managers and officials, which for purposes 
of convenience, and there is propriety, we abbreviate to 
the category executives. 

Q. So you call one category executives under profes­
sional, a third- .A. Clerical, sales. 

Q . .And the fourth? .A. Manual workers. 
Q. Now using those four classifications was a chart 

prepared showing how the population in terms of the 
gainfully employed and utilizing figures of the Census, 
how the population is occupationally divided into those 
four categories you have now mentioned? A. I did. 

Q . .A chart was made of that kind? A. Yes. 

* * * 
Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, I show you Defendants' Chal­

lenge Exhibit 67 for identification, the lefthand side of 
which reads "Occupations of the people"-! should say, 
the (2031) designation was, or at the top is "Occupa­
tions of the people and of jurors, Southern District of New 
York." On the lefthand side there is a sub-heading "The 
people." And I will ask you to explain what that portion, 
the lefthand side, appearing directly under the designation 
''The People'' represents? A. Each of these columns­
pardon me, your Honor? 
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The Court: Don't make it too long because I 
think I am way ahead of you here. I think I know 
just what that is intended to show. And I have be­
fore me this photostatic copy of the same exhibit. 

:Mr. Gladstein: I will be very brief, your Honor. 

A. (Continuing) Each of these columns indicates by its 
height the percentage of the gainfully employed workers 
in the Southern District, \vhich according to the Census 
classifications we have just here defined-

The Court: Is that the gainfully employed over 
14~ 

The Witness: That is right. Or executives, 
which is our brief name for proprietors, managers 
and officials, professionals, clericals, including deri­
cals and sales and kindred and manual workers. 
And it shows that at the time of the 16th Census 
executives comprised 9.9 per cent of the gainfully 
employed persons in the Southern (2032) District, 
and by that I mean Westchester County and Bronx 
and :Manhattan. 

The Court: Oh, this includes Westchester as 
well~ 

The Witness: That is right. 
The Court: But not Rockland~ 
The Witness: No. They were ignored be­

cause-
The Court : So this table covers New York 

County, Bronx County and Westchester County? 
The Witness: That is correct. 

A. (Continuing) It shows that 9.9. per cent of the gain­
fully employed persons of 14 years of age and older at 
the time of the Census in this country were what we call 
executives but which the Census refers to as proprietors, 
managers and officials. That 10.7 per cent were pro­
fessional and semi-professionals. Approximately .1 of the 
workers-gainfully employed persons, rather, in each case. 
The clerical and sales persons comprise 24.8 per cent of 
the gainfully employed. A pproxiinately one-fourth of the 
total. And that the categories we grouped together under 
the heading manual workers comprise 54.6 per cent of the 
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gainfully employed people 14 years of age and older in 
the Southern District at the time of the 16th Census. 

Q. Now I will ask you whether on the same basis, with 
(2033) utilization of the sa1ne four major groupings, a 
calculation was made to total the jurors based on the occu­
pations as described in the official jury lists of the clerk's 
office of this court to ascertain into which of these four 
groupings the various jurors fell~ A. You ask if such 
calculation was made 1 

Q. Yes. A. Yes. 
Q. Was a chart prepared showing the tabulation or 

pictorial result~ A. There was. 
Q. How many panels was this calculation based upon' 

A. It was based upon 28 jury panels, the 28 we listed 
Friday, as comprising the basic sample used in this 
analysis. 

• • 
Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, might I 

ask a preliminary question here1 
The Court: Yes, you may. 

Preliminary cross examination by Mr. M cGohey: 

Q. I should like to know, Mr. Wilkerson, whether you 
personally made the chart that you have just testified 
to, about the distribution of population according to the 
four categories. A. By that do you mean did I draw 
the lines and color it1 I did not. It was done (2034) 
under my direction. And I have checked it. 

Q. You have~ A. Yes. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

'Q. Now I want to call your attention to No. 67-A for 
identification and ask you whether that is the chart to 
which your last answer had reference~ A. It is. 

Q. What does it show1 A. It shows that among the 
jurors listed on the 28 panels we called attention to be­
tween 1940 and 1949, 46.1 per cent are classified as ex­
ecutives, which means in terms of the Census categories 
proprietors, managers and officials. 17.7 per cent are 
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professionals and semi-professionals. 31.2 per cent­
this is the jurors on these 28 lists-were clerical, sales 
and kindred workers. And only five per cent W·ere manual 
workers. 

Q. Did you check to ascertain the accuracy of those 
figures and those markings and that pictorial effect upon 
the chart~ A. I did. 

Q. Is it correct~ A. It is correct. 
Q. Is the other correct also? .A. It is correct. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer in evidence Nos. 67 and 
67-A, your Honor. 

Mr. McGohey : Might I ask a question before 
the-

The Court: You may. 

(2035) Preliminary cross exatnination by Mr. McGahey: 

Q. Would you tell us, Mr. Wilkerson, who was it that 
set up these four classifications that you indicated on the 
chart 1 A. The four classifications were agreed upon by 
the lawyers and I in consultation. 

Q. That is, you say the lawyers, you mean the lawyers 
who represent the defendants here, and you 1 A. The de­
fense, that is right. 

Q. At the counsel table. 

Mr. McGohey: Now, subject to the reservation 
that I made with respect to all these charts, your 
Honor, I have no objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 67 and 67 -A. 
for identification received in evidence.) 

The Witness: I think it was-may I~ I don't 
know whether to speak or not, your Honor. I am 
a little bit unused to this procedure. 

The Court: Well, it is almost always better for 
a witness to wait until the lawyer who calls him 
asks a question. 

The Witness: All right. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, would you resume your seat. 

(Witness resumes witness stand.) 
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Q. Have you prepared a table in handy form so that 
the (2036) Court could have a copy of it and it would 
be offered as an exhibit that will show the figures that 
appear on the lefthand side of 67 in evidence~ A. Yes. 
It is table No. II-A. 

* 

(2037) Q. 1\ir. Wilkerson, I sho·w you Challenge Ex-
hibit 67 -B for identification, and ask you to state what it is. 

The Court: Oh, this is 67-B. 
Mr. Gladstein: 67-B. 
The Court: I had it 68. 67-B. 

A. This is a table which bears the title, ''Occupational 
grouping of gainful workers, Manhattan, Bronx, and West­
chester, 1940,'' and which indicates in round numbers 
(2038) the number of thousands of gainful workers in 
each of the four categories we have here talked about, 
and also for each of these four categories the percentage 
distribution of the workers, plus the specific sources from 
which the data were compiled. 

Q. And that information contained on that table is 
the· same as appears pictorially on 67 ~ A. It is. 

Mr. McGohey: 67 -A. 
Mr. Gladstein: 67 -A. You are right. 

Q. Is it accurate 1 A. It is. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence, your 
Honor. 

Mr. McGohey: Subject to the same reservation, 
your Honor, I have no objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge. Exhibit 67 -B for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. ":as a table prep~red, Mr. \iVilkerson, giving cor­
responding data concerning the right side of Exhibit 67, 
in other words, that portion which has now been r·eceived 
as 67 -A~ A. There was. 

* * 
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Q. I show you a single page document marked 67 -C 
for identification and ask you to state what that is? 
(2039) A. This table here labeled Table XII-B indicates 
the occupational distribution of jurors among the four 
general categories we are here using on all 28 panels, 
used as a sample in this analysis between 1940 and 1949, 
compared ·with the occupation distribution of gainful 
workers and of male gainful workers in non-exempt occu­
pations in the Bronx, JYianhattan and Westchester in 1940. 

Q. Where were the figures obtained from~ A. The 
figures for this table were taken from certain tables that 
you haven't offered in evidence here, which in turn were 
taken from the Census volumes. 

Q. But they are Census data f A. Yes, except for 
the-

Q. Jurors 1 A. For the information about jurors. 

The Court: Which table is it that you have 
there 1 67 -C 1 

The Witness: 67 -C. 

Q. The information regarding jurors, of course, was 
taken from the official jury lists put out by the clerk, is 
that right~ A. Yes. 

Q. Now are the figures and tabulations shown on 67 -C 
for identification accuratef A. They are. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence, your 
Honor. 

(2040) Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, before it 
is received in evidence I would like to get some 
clearer explanation of what tables we are talking 
about that are said to have been the basis for this 
table. 

The Court: You may do that. 
Mr. Gladstein: All right, perhaps that is so. 

I will withdraw the offer at this moment then. And 
ask that this be marked. 

The Court: 67-C for identification is being 
withheld for a moment . 

• • 
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Q. I show you, Mr. Wilkerson, a document marked 
Challenge Exhibit 67 -D for identification. Will you be 
good enough to state what the, information on that exhibit 
is 1 A. This is table 4-B for our-for my purposes at 
least. It shows the percentage distribution of jurors 
listed in the Southern District among occupation groups 
for each of 28 federal petit jury panels, 1940 to 1945. 

( 2041) Q. Those are the 28-

The Court: 1949. 
The Witness: 1949. Thank you. 

A. I should point out that the January 17th panel here 
represented includes the first listing only, not the second 
listing. 

Q. All right. A. But for each panel then, each of the 
28 panels we· have here the percentage distribution of 
persons listed for jury service among the four major 
occupational groups we are dealing with. 

Q. Is that an accurate tabulation~ A. It is. And it 
is based on this IIII-A. 

Q. Now, you say that No. 67 -D for identification is 
based on another exhibit 1 A. That is right. Your Table 
IIII-A. 

Q. When you say 28 panels, you n1ean the same 28 
that you previously referred to 1 A. That we defined 
Friday as the basic sample used in this analysis. 

* * * 
(2042) Q. Now I show you a document consisting of 

two pages marked 67 -E for identification, and I will ask you 
to state what it is 1 A. This is labeled Table IIII-A and 
shows the number of jurors in the Southern District of New 
York for each of the 28 sample panels used in this analysis 
who fall within each of the four broad occupational group­
ings to which we have called attention. I might point out 
that these numbers provide the base on which the previous 
table you called attention to-which is labeled IIII-B, isn't 
it? 

Q. Yes, the one that is no-vv marked 67 -D for identifica­
tion. A. 67 -D for identification is a table for per-centages 
for the 28 panels computed from the numbers which are 
on 67 -E for identification. 
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Q. Are the calculations and the data shown on 67-E 
accurate 1 A. They are accurate. 

Mr. Gladstein: I off·er them in evidence, and at 
the same time-

The Witness: I think I should call att·ention­
The Court: The housewives and retired persons 

are tabulated on IV-A but are disregarded on IV-B. 
Mr. Gladstein: There 'will be testimony as to 

( 2043) the extent. 
The Court: Yes. 
The Witness: I was just going to explain just 

that point. 
Mr. Gladstein: You were~ Then we will have 

some testimony on that. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, on which of these, if on either, 67 -E or D, is 
67 -C based~ A. 67 -C gains its first column of percentages 
from Table IV -B. 

Q. Well, when you say Table IV-B, you are referring 
to 67-D for identification 1 A. That is right. 

The Court: No, he is referring to 67 -E, isn't 
he? 

Mr. Gladstein: He said IV-B. 

Q. Which is it, sir~ A. I am talking about 67-D, the 
table of percentages. 

Q. Now, on what is the balance appearing on 67 -C for 
identification bas·ed ~ A. The distribution, percentage dis­
tribution of 1nale gainful workers in non-exempt occupa­
tions is based upon a table which we her·e label as Table 
XII-B. 

(2044) Q. Table XII-B1 \-Vell, we will get that one. 

Mr. ~1cGohey: 67 -C for identification is what it 
is. 

Mr. Gladstein: I don't see it. 
Does your Honor have 67 -C for identification 1 
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The Court: I have got Table XII-D before me 
that you just last referred to. 

The Clerk: Here is C, Mr. Gladstein. 
The Witness: Forgive me, sir. 
The Court: Are we back on III-A now, which 

is given the Exhibit No. 67-C~ 
Mr. Gladst,ein: Just a minute. Let us get the 

Court designations. 
The Court: What is it you are looking for~ 
The Witness: What is it you want now? 

Q. Let me ask this. There is only one question I want 
to put to you: You have a tabulation of figures on Exhibit 
67 -C for identification which gives as to the 28 panels 
the percentage figures that you found and that are por­
trayed on-

The Court : 67 -A. 

Q. (Continuing)-on 67-A In evidence, is that right? 
A. Yes. 

Q. Now, you also have a third column clear over to 
the (2045) right of 67-C for identification which gives 
the figures that you have already given as corresponding 
with 67 in evidence, is that correct~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Now, there is a middle column which is designated 
"Male gainful workers in non-exempt occupations." Now, 
what do those figures represent~ 

The Court: Is that on 67-C~ 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, Judge, it is on 67-C. 
The Court: Read me that question, Mr. Re­

porter. 

(Question read.) 

The Court: That is where I went off the track 
before, and there must be some difference between 
your 67 -C and my 67 -C because there is not any 
such column on here. That non-exempt attracted my 
attention before but I did not say anything about it 
because I thought possibly I had not read the paper 
quickly enough. 
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The Witness: Here is 67 -C (handing). 
Mr. Gladstein: I will undertake to find one, your 

Honor. 
The Court: I see where the trouble is. It is all 

right. · 
Mr. Gladstein: I have an extra copy of that, 

your Honor. 
The Court: I thought III-A was 67 -C, but I 

find that Table XII-B has been marked 67 -C. So 
that (2046) I am changing that in my notes. 

Now, what ·was it you want·ed to bring out about 
that 67 -C, because I have sort of lost the trend~ I 
have a recollection it has something to do with that 
middle colun1n entitled "J\J!ale gainful workers in 
non-exempt occupations.'' 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. I want to ask the witness 
on what, if any, other exhibit or table that column 
is based. 

The Witness: You were right, Mr. Gladstein, 
before. It is in Table XII-A, and if I may-

* * * 
The Witness: And also XII-B. 
The Court: 67-F is Table XII-A~ 

* * * 
(2047) The Court: The whole point of these 

last few papers is to indicate, as I understand it, 
that in making up your main charts, which were 
67 and 67-A, there were excluded those in exempt 
occupations 1 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, no. No, I don't think 
so, your Honor. 

The Witness: No. 
!ir. Gladstein: We did not exclude them, but 

we have a table to show the impact of exe1npt 
occupations on the whole, which the witness will 
tell about. 

The Court: So that in those charts, 67 and 
67-A, the exempt persons are included also~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, along with the non-exempt, 
and we will have testimony to establish the extent 

LoneDissent.org



772 

Doxey A. TiJTilkerson-for Defendants on Challenge-Direct 

to which there would be any impact on the question 
of exempt occupations one way or the other on this 
question of jurors. For example, I may indicate, 
your Honor, that generally speaking the exempt 
occupations, as ·we read them in the statute, fall 
within the professional groups a good deal, for 
example, and will not aff,ect the manual workers 
in the same way that they would the professionals. 
In other words, we will have some testimony to show, 
we will have the statute-

(2048) The Court: It seems to me there is so 
much guesswork about it. You have all the male 
workers over 14 that are gainfully employed, and 
right there there is a big difference between 14 and 
whatever age the other tables are; then you have 
the exempt people in, and you have taken the house­
wives and the retired people out, and it all seems to 
be a great deal of guesswork. However, I will wait 
until you get through, and then s-ee what it adds 
up to. 

Mr. Gladstein: I want to .say that we are going 
to address ourselves to the points your Honor has 
mentioned. 

The Court: I wish you would bear in mind, as 
I indicated earlier, that these United States Supreme 
Court cases very clearly lay down the rule that it 
must be a deliberate and wilful exclusion and dis­
crimination. I understand the law, not law made 
by me but the· law established by the Supreme 
Court, to be very clearly that merely because you 
have not a certain proportion of those in one occu­
pation or another, or in one age or another, or one 
section or another, but that the point that you must 
establish is a wilful and deliberate discrimination 
and exclusion, which I take it you understand. 

Mr. Gladstein: I understand, and I am satisfied 
that we can comply with all the standards the 
Supreme Court ( 2049) has laid down, your 
Honor, but I take it you don't want to have any 
argument on that point. 

The Court: No. I just wanted to mention that 
these tables, as I look at them right now, is a 
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sampling, and they are made up with so many gaps 
and so much guesswork and drawing of conclusions, 
that I feel right now it is going to be extremely 
difficult to infer from the aggregate of these tables 
that there has been this wilful and deliberate dis-­
crimination that you speak of. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, we will address 
ourselves to each of the possible contentions that 
might be made or thought to be made against any 
of the charts. We will come to that in due time. 

The Court: You know, in some of these argu­
ments that we had last week there was some talk 
about tokens, a token person put here or there. Now, 
these statistics do not seem to bear out anything 
about tokens. The percentages, even the minimum 
percentages, seem to me to be not insubstantial. 
However, I just mention that in passing. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, I want to ask the witness 
as to 67 -F for identification, what it purports to be. 

The Witness: 67 -F is a table which gives the 
occupational distribution of gainful workers in Man­
hattan, Bronx and Westchester and of those exempt 
from jury (2050) duty in 1940-or, rather, the 
distribution is on the basis of Census data in 1940. 
I might say that at this point the relevance of this 
table is that it provides the basis for one of the other 
tables-

Q. Which other table~ A. That you have-
Q. I want you to look at them all and indicate which. 

A .. This is it (indicating). 
Q. Well, name it. A. Table XII-
Q. No, the identification number. A. It is Exhibit 67 -C 

for identification, which includes among its three columns 
a column of figures which is taken from XII-A. 

Q. Not XII-A, but 67-F. A. 67-F for identification. 
Q. All right. Now, are the figures and tabulations on 

67 -F for identification correct~ A. They are. 
Q. ·Now, 67-0 for identification, then, you have described 

as containing figures obtained from one or another of the 
other exhibits for identification here, is that right? A. 
That is right. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Now, which have been admitted, 
67-A and B~ 

:.M:r. l\1cGohey: That is right. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now, I think with the witness's 

testimony \Ve are ready to offer in evidence, your 
Honor, 67-C, D, E and F. 

* * * 
(2051) Mr. McGahey: Pardon me. If your 

Honor please, before we adjourn, 67 -F appears to 
have a footnote-

The Witness: That is an error. 

Q. The footnote is an error~ A. Is this the one that 
says taken from Table XII-A~ 

The Court: It just says ''Source see table.'' 
l\fr. :McGohey: In the papers which we have, on 

the page immediately following the table which is 
now marked Exhibit 67--F for identification, and 
which is designated XII-A, the very following page 
starts off with these words "Footnote to Table 
XII-A.'' 

The Court : Well, that is a blank page in my 
set, and I suggest that you gentlemen sort of get 
together on this and we can dispose of this tomorrow 
morning. You may confer with one another and 
straighten this out, and we will now adjourn to 
10.30-

Mr. McGohey: I just wanted to :find out if the 
footnote being appended to the table was being 
offered. 

l\1r. Gladstein: It is. 

* 
(2052) (Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 67-C 

67 -D, 67 -E and 67 -F for identification received in 
evidence.) 

* * 
(2053) Mr. l\fcGohey: If your I-Ionor please, 

this is just ,simply for the purpose of the record. 
As to these exhibits which have just been received in 
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evidence now, just so the record will be straight, 
with the reservation that I have made with respect 
to all the others, I have no objection to their ad­
mission. 

The Court: Yes, and that reservation may apply 
to this entire line of exhibits and testimony. 

* * 
(2053-A) (Adjourned to February 1, 1949, at 

10.30 a.m.) 

(2054) New York, Fe~ruary 1, 1949; 
10.30 a.m. 

* 
(2055) Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, the New 

York Times this morning reports a decision yester­
day in the Supreme Court in the cas·e of Zimmerman 
against The State. It is a case involving this question 
of alleged exclusion of jurors. It is a case that arose 
in the State of Maryland. The account in the Times 
this morning indicates that there was a per curiam 
opinion, with a dissent by Justices Black, Murphy, 
Douglas and Rutledge; but the Court affirmed the 
opinion below. And the opinion below you will find 
in 59 Atlantic Reporter, second series. 

Mr. Sacher: Is that a State cruse¥ 
Mr. McGohey: That is a State case, coming up 

from the Court of Appeals of Maryland. 
The Court: What is the page number! 
Mr. M~cGohey: 675. 
The Court: 59 Atlantic (2d) 675. 
Mr. McGahey: Zimmerman against The State. 
The Court: Zimmerman against The State. I 

have a note of that. 
MJr. McGahey: The Supreme Court affirmed 

that on the authority of Akins vs. Texas, which I 
think your Honor has there on the bench. You will 
find Akins vs. Texas in 325 U. S., around 395, 398 
somewhere. 

( 2056) The Court : Just a second now. 325? 
Mr. McGahey: Yes, sir. 
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The Court: No, I haven't got that here. 
Mr. McGohey: You will find it in­
The Court: But I will check that up. 
M:r. McGohey: I have it here if your Honor 

wants to look at it now. 
The Court: Yes, I think I would. 
Mr. McGohey: Thi,s copy of the Atlantic Re­

porter comes from the Circuit Court library, your 
Honor. 

The Court: So there is no use of my sending up 
th~re to get it. 

Mr. McGohey: No, indeed. 
Now, the copy I have here of volume 325 of the 

United States Reports containing Akins vs. Te:xas, 
that comes from the library of the United States 
Attorney's office. 

The Court: Well, I have one of these upstairs 
in my chambers. But I will keep that Atlantic for 
the time being. And if you will just pause for a 
minute, gentlemen, to let me glance at this de~ision. 

Well, of course, they ~say in this Akins case what 
was true of all of the authorities: ''Fairness in se­
lection has never been held to require proportional 
representation of races upon a jury.'' 

(2057) And I take it that counsel for the de­
fendants recognize that, and they are urging some­
thing diffe\rent upon me. But however that may be, 
I shall doubtless get the .slip sheet report from the 
.Supreme Court in the course of the day or tomor­
row, and I shall study these ca,ses very carefully. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your HonQr, of course, this is 
not a time for, and I know your Honor does not 
want any extended discussion, and I do not intend 
to offer any in connection with-

The Court : No, but you may always refer me 
to authorities. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: And I welcome refe\rences of that 

kind. 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, we will be very happy to 

do that. 
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At this point I just would like to have the 
Court's attention called to one very important fac­
tor: .As Mr. McGohey stated to the Court, the Zim­
merman decision that has just been called to your 
Honor's attention a(rose from a charge of discrim­
inatory and exclusionary practice in the jury sys­
tem in a State court, and the reliance in the Zim­
merman case upon Akins vs. Texas is again reli­
ance on a case that arose in Texas in a State court. 

(2058) Your Honor will ;recall that portion in 
the Fay case where the five Justices who decided 
against your Honor-and I think incorrectly be­
cause I think on the record in that case the facts 
were adequate to support your Honor's position­
but nonetheless-

The Coujrt: Well, you know, I have to take the 
law as the Supreme Court gives it, and if I get 
licked I get licked, and I did get licked. However, 
that is all right. 

Mr. Gladstein: I am not suggesting that your 
Honor not follow what the Supreme Court says. I 
am simply saying that in my judgment the facts 
were adequate to warrant a 5 to 4 decision in your 
favo;r rather than against you. 

But I call your I-Ionor 's attention to this: In 
the Fay case four of the nine Justices, just as in 
the Zimmerman case, stated that in their judgment 
the panel, the selection of juries in New York State 
courts was bad. The :five who ruled against that 
view, the same five who apparently maintained that 
view in the Zimmerman case, said this through Mr. 
Justice Jackson. I desiire to remind your Honor at 
this point, and I am quoting: 

'' The.se defendants' '-and that was referring 
to your Honor's clients-"rely heavily on argu­
ments (2059') drawn from ouir decisions in 
Glasser vs. United States''-I will skip the cita­
tions-'' Thiel vs. Southern Pacific Company and 
Ballard vs. United States. The facts in the pres­
ent case are distinguishable in vital and obvious 
particulars from those in any of the1se cases. But 
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those decisions were not constrained by any duty 
of deference to the authQrity of the State over 
local administration of justice. They dealt only 
with juries in federal courts. Over federal pro­
ceedings we may exert a supervisory power with 
greater freedom to reflect our notions of good 
policy than we may constitutionally exert over 
proceedings in State courts, and these expres,sions 
of policy are not necessarily embodied in the con­
cept of due process.'' 

The Court: I am fully cognizant of that. You 
may remember that right about the opening guns of 
this proceeding I said in some little colloquy that 
you present the point in a double aspect, the consti­
tutional aspect and the aspect of supervisory pow­
ers of the federal courts over their jurie,s. I re­
alize that. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. I merely wanted to call 
your Honor's attention to the fact that the Zimmer­
man case, like the Akins case, being a State court 
jury case, receives the attention from the United 
States (2060) Supreme Court in the manner in­
dicated by virtue of the fact that the five Justices 
of the .Supreme Court feel constrained to defer to 
the authority of the State. 

The Court : I got that. 
Mr. Gladstein: We, however, are dealing here 

with a federal system. 
The Court: You are dealing with it in a double 

aspect. 
Mr. ·Gladstein: Yes, that i~s true. 
The Court: That is what I think is clear. I 

have that very much in mind, and I understand the 
power of the Supreme Court in view of all these 
questions and all those little details. I think you 
may assume that I am quite familiar with them. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
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DoXEY A. WILKERSON, resumed the stand. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, at the close of yesterday's pro­
ceedings your attention had been called to and there had 
been introduced in evidence an over-all chart which i~s now 
located on the blackboard and which is designated No. 67 
in evidence, plus a smaller chart received in evidence as 
67-A, defendants' exhibit in the challenge, and those I un­
derstand represent the over-all picture for the people on 
the one hand and for the jurors on (2061) the other in 
connection with 28 panels. A. Yes. 

Q. With respect to the occupational breakdown, is that 
right, sir? A. Yes. 

Q. Now in arriving at the over-all figure for 67-A, or 
the over-all picture, I should say, together with the figuresi 
indicated on that exhibit, what was done~ A. If I get your 
question, you want to know how we determined-

Q. How you proceeded. A. -that 46.1 per cent of the 
juro~s represented on those panels belonged to what we are 
here designating as the executive clas.s ~ 

Q. That is correct. 

The Court: Didn't he tell us that yesterday, 
that he took it from the designations of occupations 
appearing on the jury lists~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I do not think that that is 
a sufficient answer, your Honor, because-

The Court: All right. 
Mr. Gladstein: I would like to have him describe 

how he proceeded to get the over-all picture. 
The Court: He may do that. 
Mr. Gladstein: Thank you. 
The Wi tnes~s : There are several types of things 

essential, I think, for an adequate answer to that 
question. 

The Court: Now, you know, that is the kind 
(2062) of thing, Mr. Witness, that I think you can 
begin cutting down on a little bit. You have a way 
of wandering around and making a lot of prelimi­
naries. Now just get to work and give us the an­
swer to the question without all these preliminaries 
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and explanatory matters and digressions, which I 
am sure you can easily avoid. 

The Witne,ss: All right, your Honor, I am sorry 
if I seem to be delaying things unduly. 

In the first place, it was essential to ascertain 
what is the occupation of the juror, and what we 
said yesterday was that we took that from the-

The Court: Now that is the kind of thing. Why 
do you do that~ He asks you to tell us how you 
proceeded to work out the 46.1 per cent. Now go 
ahead and do it without explaining what you did 
yesterday and what you did some other time, but 
just go down to the question and indicate rus briefly 
as you reasonably .can what you did and the manner 
in which you proceeded. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, I think the witness, 
if I may say so, was simply using a point of de­
parture to call our attention to something and 
then-

The Court: That is what I am telling him not 
to do. I have been reading over the record of his 
testimony thus far, and he has a way that is very 
pleasant and very interesting, of wandering along. 
I don't mind it, (2063) but really, we must reach 
an end some time here, and I think it is going to 
be easy for him to answer questions a little bit more 
succinctly. That is all I am telling him to do. It 
is just to ,save time, and if there is anything that 
is confusing or inadequately stated, why, I am not 
going to prevent your following it up with another 
question that will bring out whatever you desire to 
bring out. 

Do you understand what I mean~ 
The Witness : Yes, your Honor. 
The Court: I think 1SO. 

The Witness: I hope you understand that I am 
simply seeking to connect with what I was about to 
say with where we left off yesterday. 

The Court: I do, I understand that, and I do 
not mean what I have spoken of here as any criti­
cism of you at all. 

The Witness: Shall I now proceed~ 
The Court: Yes. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Please do so. A. It would be best, I think to il­
lustrate this procedure with reference to a particular jury 
Hst because the point of procedure here is important. It 
would be inadequate to say that we did it just like the 
Census (2064) cite of this chart does, because these data 
we merely copied from a Census report. 

Q. When you say "these data"- A. The data on the 
left side of this chart which is E~ibit 67, indicating the 
occupational distribution of the population gainfully em­
ployed. 

It was necessary on the basis of information provided 
concerning the juror~s for these panels-

Q. By the clerk~ A. By the clerk. 
Q. That is on the panel~ A. Yes. (Continuing) With 

the use of certain guides and manuals provided by the 
Census Bureau to go through the process of classifying 
these individual jurors just as the Census went through the 
process of classifying each of the individual people enum­
erated in the 1940 Census. 

There are several things that are important there. Let 
me illustrate: I have one of the jury lists here. We might 
take any jury lists. This one has as the first name Victor 
Alvarez, whose occupation is listed as general office man­
ager, 8 Dunham Road, Scarsdale; 7 Battery Place, New 
York City, is his office address. 

We then took the alphabetical index of occupations and 
industries, which has already been entered as Challenge 
Exhibit 16, and look up office managers-

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, may I 
(2065) ascertain what jury list the witnes,s is re­
ferring to now~ 

The Witness: This is the list of January 17, 
1940. 

Q. The first or the second? 

The Court: 1940, he said. 
The Witness : 1940. 
The Court: He is taking E,xhibit 54 as the basis. 
The Witne1ss : We will find when we look up 

manager, office, it happens to be on-
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Mr. McGohey: May I interrupt, your Honor. I 
do not think that is 54. A jury list~ 

The Court : No, 54 is the chart like one of these 
that is made up fro1n the jury panel-

Mr. McGohey: It appears to be Exhibit 25, I 
think. 

The Court: You are quite right that the jury 
panel itself bears another number. That is 25, is it~ 

The Witness: That is correct. 
The Court: Very well. 
The Witness: One will find in the alphabetical 

index on page 314 the category manager of office, 
and behind it certain symbol numbers, 156. If one 
then turns to the earlier part of the classification 
index he finds that the symbol number 156 refers to 
the category which the Census lists in its reports as 
proprietors, managers (2066) and officials. 

Hence we give to Victor Alvarez, who is a gen­
eral office manager at G-arcia & Dia the classification 
of managers-proprietors, managers and officials, 
which in our category here we designated by the 
term "executives." 

Now if the Court would like I should be delighted 
to illustrate thi1s process with others. Should I or 
is it perfectly clear~ 

Q. Would you do a few just to indicate, if you will, Mr. 
Wilkerson, what the process was~ 

The Court : Just answer the questions. 
The Witness: Pardon me, sir. 

A. The next name on the list is that of Alfred P. Ander­
son, who is a compositor at the F. E. Fitch Company, In­
corporated. His addres~s and office address for our pur­
poses are important. If we look in the alphabetical list 
for compositors, we will find a symbol number 310 which 
indicates that the worker involved, the employed person 
involved, by reference to the key in the Census is in the 
category of craftsmen, foremen and kindred workers, which 
happens to be one of the six categories that we grouped 
together with the general heading manual workers. 

So we classified Mr. Ande!}son as a manual worker. 
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(2067) In like manner for all of the names on the 
individual lists, we w·ent through the process of classify­
ing each individual juror as regards occupation. I think 
I should point two or three things out in reference to the 
procedures there. At times, take a real estate man, for 
example,-

The Court: Take a what~ 
The Witness: A real estate worker, without 

ref erring to specifics here; you can check it with the 
alphabetical index; if he be an owner of a real es­
tate establishment he would be classified as 1, or 
rather, in our executive category. 

Q. When you say '' 1'' you are referring to- A. To 
our category of executives. 

Q. That is right. And the second~ A. He would be 
classified by Census category or proprietors, managers 
and officials. 

Q. Yes? A. If he is a salesman, a real estate agent, the 
Census classification would list him in what is then in our 
third group, clerical sales persons, and very frequently 
the jury lists did not make clear whether this juror, who 
is in real estate, is an owner and a proprietor, or whether 
he is a sales agent of some other outfit. 

In all such cases, and I think many such cases, ( 2068) 
what we did was to take the lower, speaking figuratively 
here, of two possible categories in which he might be 
:placed. In this particular case-and there are many in­
stances-rather than executive where he· might have been 
classified, but we didn't know, we. put him in the lower 
category of clericals, which was also a possibility on the 
basis of the information available from the census re­
ports. This is true incidentally with many other in­
dividual cases. \V e sought to lean over backwards in the 
.sense of utilizing the lower of possible alternative cate­
gories whet~.ever there was any possibility of doubt con­
cerning the proper classification of a person listed on the 
jury list. 

(2069) Q. When you say the lower you mean lower 
economic brackets~ A. I mean the lower in terms of the 
Census groupings. I am using it here not in sociological 
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sense so much, though it is so commonly used or so de­
scribed, but rather for executives as the highest, manual 
workers as the lowest, and professionals and clericals 
ranging in between-in that sense am I using the term 
also. 

·Q. Let me ask you this: Have you had this kind of 
situation, did you run across any question where from the 
occupational description giv·en by the clerk concerning a 
particular juror, using that description alone, and that is 
the only information you had, it was possible that that 
man might be either a manual worker or he might be in 
one of the other three categories~ A. There w·ere many 
such instances. 

The Court: There might be in real estate, too. 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 

Q. Do I understand that in all instan0es where there 
was doubt or ambiguity or uncertainty the choice n1ade 
was to place such a juror in the lowest, and now I am 
using "lowest" in the terms of executives being the high­
est, the professionals, semi-professionals next, the clerical 
and sales next, and the manual workers lowest, in all 
such cases you placed that juror in the lowest of those 
(2070) four possible groupings; is that correct~ A. That 
is correct. 

The Court : vV ell, he just said he did not do 
that. 

Mr. Gladstein: The lowest to which it-
The Court: The man in r·eal estate, knowing 

that that might be in the class of manual workers, 
he only took two, the executives and clerical and as­
sumed that he was in the lower of those two. But 
he did not, as I understand his testimony, say that 
he ever put a man who just said ''real estate'' down 
in what you called the lowest-although I am sur­
prised to hear you use that kind of expression. 

Mr. Gladstein: I used it-I thought I made it 
clear. 

The Court: Not lower than the others, as I un­
derstand your theory. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Certainly not. I want to make 
that very clear. But I think there can't be any ques­
tion in the mind of anybody who is realistic, that 
speaking economically, speaking occupationally, 
speaking in terms of income, matters of that kind, 
in the economic brackets of our ,society manual w·ork­
ers derive that portion of income which puts them 
in the lowest scale. And executives derive that por­
tion which puts them in the (2071) highest scale. 
I am only speaking in that respect. I don't want any 
inference at all to be derived that I am paying re­
spect therefore to a higher degree to people who are 
and who happened to be wealthy, your Honor. 

The Court: I thought maybe you slipped up a 
little bit there. But I understand what your position 
is. 

The Witness: I think the Court was not quite 
clear on my illustration. 

Q. Would you give it again or give it so that it i,s clear~ 
Perhaps I misunderstood you. A. There is never an in­
stance in which a real estate worker or person employed 
in real estate would be -classified as a manual worker un­
less perhaps she was a charwoman in a real estate office 
or something of that sort. An agent, or a person who runs 
the business, can be either executive or clerical sales, ac­
cording to our categories. 

However, take another illustration that I recall from 
:Some of these-a tailor. You will find if you analyze the 
classification, alphabetical index of occupations in indus­
tries, that a tailor who is a proprietor and owns his busi­
ne,ss would be classified as a proprietor, manager and offi­
cial, our category of e:x,ecutives. There are, however, cer­
tain other (2072) categories of tailors who would be 
classified as manual workers. 

If the designation on the jury list for this particular 
juror who was a tailor was not sufficiently explicit to make 
clear with certainty which of the two categories he should 
go into, we chose the manual worker category rather than 
the executive. In that sense we always-wherever there 
was any pos1sibility of doubt we chose that alternative 
which would have the effect of tending to increase the pro-
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portion of manual workers, clericals, what-have-you, or, 
rather, those below executives on the jury lists. 

Q. In other words, resolving any question 6£ doubt in 
favor of including people in the higher rather than the 
lower economic brackets, as I use that term. The other 
way around I should say. Is that right? A. Including 
them in the lower, rather than the higher, if there were any 
doubt. 

I think it would be well, Mr. Gladstein, if you wish to 
read to the Court, not the component subdivi,sions in these 
various categories as we did yesterday, but rather a more 
definitive and interpretive description of the nature of 
these four categories that we are here using. I think-

Q. Does the U;nited States Census Department have 
(2073) such a description? A. It does. 

Q. Is that contained in the exhibit1 A. It is. 
Q. Would you be good enough to call the Court's at­

tention to it~ And indicate the page from which you read 
when you do. A. I am reading from ''Alphabetical Index 
of Occupations in Industry," which is Challenge Exhibit 
16. 

The Court: Page? 
The Witness: Page 3 and 4-page 3, yes, and 4, 

describe what is meant by a proprietor and manager 
and an official, the categories included in what we 
are calling executives. 

Q'. Very well. 

Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, isn't this ex­
hibit in evidence? Or, if it is not in evidence it 
seems to me that it could be put in evidence. 

Mr. Gladstein: It is in evidence, Mr. McGohey. 
Mr. McGohey: Well, if it is in evidence then why 

do we have to take up the time reading it now? I 
object to this as-

The Court : I really don't think we need to. 
Mr. McGohey: I am going to object to this line 

of te·stimony now as irrelevant. 
(2074) Mr. ,Gladstein: Your Honor, that is a 

document, that is an exhibit-may I see it, Mr. 
Wilkerson? 
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(Witness hands to Mr. Gladstein.) 

Mr. Gladstein: This happens to be an exhibit of 
some 600 pages. 

The Court : Yes. He ·can refer to the page 
numbers. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: And then I will examine those. It 

is not necessary to read all those things out unless 
there is some special point. You know, this does 
seem to drag out so as though I did not understand 
what he was saying. And oftentimes when I make 
some statement that indicates a trend of thought 
that may not show complete acquiescence in what 
this is ~saying or counsel is saying then they always. 
come back and say I don't understand, and they 
have to do it two or three times more. 

Now, I have a rather quick understanding of 
these things in some ways, and I believe I under­
stand perfectly the method that he has stated that 
he has used. And I believe you can have him just 
refer to those pages and then I can examine them. 

Mr. Gladstein : Your Honor, I think as your 
Honor well know,s it i~s customary with an exhibit of 
this sort-as I say, it is over 600 pages-it is cus­
tomary (2075) at this point in the record to have 
attention called and to have read into the record 
any brief passages that are particularly significant 
and to which the attention of the Court is invited 
and which ought to be in the record, and rather 
than simply-

The Court: You say the same thing. I can hand 
something to you, I can suggest it to you, I can be 
just as pleasant about it as possible and you utterly 
disregard it and you go right on. Now, it is all 
right; if there is something in this particular one 
that you desire to read in there you may do so. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. I can do it as well 
as the witness as a matter of fact. What I want 
particularly to call your Honor's attention to is the 
United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of 
Census' own statement concerning certain character­
istics of the1se Census classifications or groupings. 
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With respect to professional workers the exhibit 
says this: 

''The professional worker is one who per­
forms advisory, administrative or research work 
which is based upon the e~stablished principles of 
a profession or science and which requires pro­
fessional, scientific or technical training equiv­
alent to that represented by graduation from a 
(2076) college or university of recognized stand­
ing, or one who performs the work which is based 
upon the established facts or principles or meth­
ods in a restricted field of science or art, and 
which work requires for its performance an ac­
quaintance with these established facts or prin­
ciples or methods gained through academic study 
or through ex.tensive practical experience or 
both.'' 

Now, with respect to "proprietor" the Census 
exhibit says this : 

''A proprietor is an entrepreneur who owns 
or who owns and alone or with assi;stance oper­
ates his own business and is responsible for mak­
ing and carrying out its policies. 

"A manager is one who manages all or a part 
of the business of another person or agency who 
has large responsibilities in the making and/or 
in the carrying out of the policies of the business 
and who through assistance is responsible for 
planning and supervising the work of others. 

''An official of a company, a corporation or 
an agency is an officer whose work involves large 
responsibilities in the making andjor in the carry­
ing out of the policie1s of tlie concern or agency 
andjor in planning and supervising the work of 
the concern (2077) or agency or that of one or 
more of its departments." 
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Now with respect to clerical and kindred work­
ers the Census Table reads as follows: 

''.A. clerical or kindred worker is one who un­
der .supervision performs one or more office ac­
tivities, usually routine, such as preparing, tran­
scribing and filing written communications and 
records, editing and coding schedules, compiling 
statistical or other data, operating office machines, 
and in general assisting in the work of the office 
or in the work of a superior by making appoint­
ments, acting as information clerk or as record 
clerk, or as telephone operator or as messenger. 
Less routine but also clerical is the work per­
formed by such persons ws clerks of accounts, mail 
carriers and railroad station agents. A salesman 
or a saleswoman is one who usually under super­
vision is ,selling commodities, insurance, real es­
tate, securities or 'services.'' 

And then, with respect to craftsmen, one of the 
classifications included in our grouping called 
''Manual Workers'' the Census says this, your 
Honor: 

·''A craftsman is one engaged in the''-

The Court: Mr. Gladstein, why do you want to 
(2078) read all of that in there? It is right in 
that book. You know, it does seem unnecessary for 
you to keep doing thi~s. I do not-

Mr. Gladstein: Very well, your Honor. 
The Court: I do not want to have a fuss about 

it, but it just does seem as though you keep it up 
and up. But go on, read some more. 

Mr. Gladstein: Let me just call your attention, 
without reading the balance, to the fact that with 
respect to the classifications known as craftsmen 
operatives, service workers and laborers, that in 
each of those the Census points out that these are 
all workers who are engaged in manual pursuits. 
That is to say, manual workers. 
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Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, did you subject to analyses 
particular panels of the jury lists for the purpose of pre­
senting charts reflecting the actual occupational picture of 
those particular panels ~ A. What we did was to analyze 
not individual panels in terms of pictorial representations, 
though we do have tabular presentations, but rather groups 
of panels. 

Q. Do you have a list of such groups of panels 1 A. 
Yes. 

Q. Would you indicate which ones you have~ A. We 
made such an analysis and a corresponding chart ( 2079) 
for the panel of the January-panels previously desig­
nated in our sample of January and February 1940. I 
can give you the exact dates of those pane1s if you like. 

Q. Would you do so, please. 

The Court: January 19401 
The Witness: January 17th. 
The Court: I thought the :first one was Feb­

ruary 6, 1940. Am I wrong about that~ 
The Witness: You are referring now to the first 

map that we introduced. 
The Court: Yes. 
The Witness: But the occupational charts do 

not correspond necessarily to the ones-
The Court: The occupational charts do not cor­

respond with the~se other charts~ 
The Witness: That is right. Rather than Feb­

ruary 6th-
Mr. Gladstein: In point of time only, your Hon­

or. That is to say, the occupational charts, as I 
understand the witness, cover a greater number of 
panels than the maps do. 

(To witness) Is that correct1 
The Witness : I was going to ,say that the Feb­

ruary 6th panel and the January 17th panel, 1940, 
are ( 2080) both analyzed together and repro­
duced on a chart. 

Mr. ·Gladstein: I see. All right, now. Let me 
ask the clerk to mark this, please . 

• • 
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Q. Mr. Wilkerson, I show you Defendants' Challenge 
Exhibit 68 for identification. Will you identify it, please? 
A. Yes, I do. 

Q. What is it~ A. It is a chart-

Mr. Gladstein: Can your Honor see it~ 
The Court: Yes. Put it just a little bit further 

over that way. That is fine. 

A. (Continuing) It is a chart which compares the per­
centage distribution of jurors, 418 jurors, gainfully em­
ployed in the January 17th and February 6th panels, 
1940; compare)s their percentage distribution among four 
occupational categories, here used, with the percentage 
distribution of the gainfully employed population of the 
Southern District in 1940. 

The Court: That is, gainfully employed over 
141 

The Witness: All Census data, yes. 

Q. Would you explain therefore what these bars repre­
sent on this 68 for identification~ A. Yes. (2081) You 
will note two red bars, two green, yellow, and blue. There 
is a key chart, incidentally, Mr. Gladstein, which may help 
the Court in its reference. 

The Court : Well, I wish you would hand them 
to me so that I can have them before me. But I 
wa~s thinking of the numbers. That book that you 
have, does that take in the numbers~ 

The Witness : Of the panels 1 
The Court: No. You ,see, on your chart there 

it is E-41, A-179, E-45, A-60, and so on. Those num­
bers come from somewhere and I thought that is 
what you were going to explain to me. But you 
may come to that later. You can't do everything at 
once, I know. 

Mr. ,Gladstein: Very well, your Honor. 
The Witness: I might call attention, if the Court 

wishes, to the sources of those numbers now. Do 
you want-
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Q. We will do that as we go along. 

The Court: I think if you will follow Mr. Glad­
stein's order it is going to be better, because he 
knows just what he wants to bring out, and I think 
it is better to let a lawyer follow his own bent in 
such things. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 69 for 
identification.) 

(2082) Q. I show you No. 69 for identification, Mr. 
Wilkerson. Will you explain what that chart it~ A. This 
is merely a chart which provides the legend that enables 
one to interpret the several charts which you are about 
to present .here. And I think we 1should explain certain 
terms here which are used in a statistical sense and not 
in a moral sense because there may be some question about 
it. It is observed-

The Court: What do you mean by that~ 
The Witness: I will explain it, if your Honor 

p,ermits. . 
The Court : Yes, I will. 

A. The red bars designate our category of executives. The 
green bar's designate professionals. The yellow bars desig­
nate clerical, sale,s employees. And the blue columns repre­
sent manual workers. 

Now, you will note here the symbol E and expected in 
quotation marks. We put it in quotation marks because 
we mean expected in this sense : If jurors were distributed 
among the four occupational categories in precisely the 
same proportion that the gainfully employed population 
of the Southern District is, one would expect a certain 
percentage of jurors to fall in each of the categorie,s. 

I make this explanation because ''expected'' here has 
no implication with reference to intent; it is (2083) 
merely a statistical term; also the sub-item "if chosen 
without bias." We are using that term in the statistical 
sense. If there were a completely random selection you 
would expect the distribution of jurors which corresponds 
to the di,stribution of the general population. 
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Q. Can I ask you if what you mean is this, Mr. Wilker­
son: taking the occupational classifications or descriptions 
given on the jury lists, you were able to find which of the 
four groupings they fall into, based on that information; 
that is right, isn't it~ A. That is right. 

Q. All right. Now when you take all of these jury lists, 
or in this case, for example, January and February 1940, 
for that particular exhibit, when you take all those classi­
fications, why, you are able to find out how many of them 
in numbers or in percentage fall respectively in each of the 
four major groupings, is that right~ A. Yes. 

Q. At the same time, based on the Census data, you are 
able to say what the actual population is like occupation­
ally distributed, is that correct~ A. Yes. 

Q. So that the figure and the size of the bar designated 
with the letter E represents what the jury composition 
would be like if it corresponded to the population gener­
ally, occupationally 'speaking~ A. Yes, in the (2084) 
strictly descriptive sense, yes. 

The Court : Just a theoretical concept made up 
by the witness. 

J\{r. Gladstein: No, your Honor. I thought he 
had answered that if the jury, if the composition of 
the jury, occupationally, was a reflection of the occu­
pational composition of the people, that you would 
find the kind of number and the size of the bar indi­
cated by the letter E on this chart. 

Q. Am I correct about that, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. That 
is correct. 

The Court: Now that 1s a roundabout way of 
saying that taking the figures in the Census and tak­
ing the figures on these panels of jurors and making 
mathematical computations you reach c~rtain math­
ematical conclusions. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is correct. 
The Court : All this part of it, ''selected with­

out bias'' and "expected'' and ,so on is just so much 
dres,sing that is put on there. It is a mathematical 
computation and nothing else but. 
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Mr. Gladstein: What we are saying is, in ef­
fect, your Honor, that if you apply the occupational 
distribution of the people to the jurors on these 
lists you would find one type of pattern, whereas 
if you ( 2085) address yourself to the actual lists 
you find a different one. 

The Court: That is what I ,say. 
Mr. Gladstein : Yes. 
The Court: And all this part about what he ha~s 

expected and to do it without bias and so on, that 
is just added on. And so the accuracy of the con­
-clusions depends upon the basic data. And one of 
the difficulties that has occurred to me, and I have 
mentioned once or twice, is whether the description 
of occupations given in the list of jurors is on the 
same basis BJS the descriptions of occupations ap­
pearing in the Census. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: And other difficulties, such as the 

Census being based not on those eligible for jury 
JService but those over 14 who are gainfully em­
ployed, and so on. 

Mr. Gladstein: We will come to that, your 
Honor. 

The Court: So that we have got to get all those 
things together. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is right. 
The Court: But I do not feel that this key chart 

contributes very much. But, however, it does ex­
plain, supplemented by the witnesses's testimony, 
what he means, and that, of course, is the important 
thing. 

(2086) Mr. Gladstein: All right. Then I will 
offer the key chart in evidence at this point. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I have an 
objection. I object to this legend, "Social selec­
tion, federal petit jury, .Southern District of New 
York.'' It appears to me that that designation is 
completely n1i1sleading because the witness has been 
testifying about some occupational distribution. And 
there is no evidence in this record that there is any 
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relation between the occupations of persons and 
their social or economic view;s. 
I object further to it, if your Honor please, be­
cause of this language, this legend which is down 
here in small print, saying, "If chosen without 
bias.'' Now, those words have definite meanings in 
a case of this kind, your Honor. The charge here 
is that there has been bias, that there has been a 
systematic bias in the exclusion of certain types of 
classifications of persons. There has been a charge 
here that there is bias on the part of the Court. 
That hws added nothing whatever to the explanation 
that is given. And, then, it assumes, it seems to 
me, a state of facts as to which there is no evidence 
and for which there is no support. 

(2087) Furthermore, I object to the exhibit as 
a whole as irrelevant. 

The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, may I offer 

an amendment· to the chart as it stands so as to 
meet the objections that have been raised~ 

The Court: Mr. Gladstein, you don't need that 
chart at all. What you have indicated as the divi­
sion of colors, the classifications, are all perfectly 
clear without that chart. 

Mr. Gladstein: But I would like nevertheless to 
offer the chart in the following amended form. I 
desire to have the word "social" deemed removed 
from the chart, and I am willing later on to have 
some blank piece of paper pasted over it so that 
there will be no que~stion about it; as well as the 
phrase "if chosen without bias" so that neither of 
those words or phrases will appear on the chart. 

And in that amended form I offer it in evidence. 
Mr. McGohey: I still press my question, your 

Honor, on the ground that it is irrelevant. 
The Court: The same ruling. 

Q. Now, address yourself, if you will, to 68 for identi­
fication, Mr. Wilkerson, and tell us what the letter A stands 
for in each of the bar~s in which it (2088) appears. A. 
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The letter A represents the number of jurors on the two 
panels we called attention to for January and February 
1940, to be found in each of the four occupational cate­
gories here indicated. 

Q. And the letter E followed by a :figure represents 
what? A. The letter E indicates the number of jurors 
there would be if the proportion of jurors in a given cate­
gory, occupational category, but the total were the same, 
as the proportion of the gainfully employed population 
in the Southern District in that particular occupational 
category is to the total. In other words,-

The Court: That is clear. 
The Witness: That is clear~ Very well. I think 

it would be well-
The Court: And I got that about 15 minutes 

ago. 
Mr. Gladstein: Very well, your Honor. 
Now I offer 68 in evidence. 
The Witne,ss: I think, Mr. Gladstein, it would 

he well to call attention to the exhibit in the record 
from whlch-

Mr. Gladstein: I offer 68 in evidence, your 
Honor. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, before 
passing on that, might I ask the witness one or two 
(2089) questions~ 

The Court: Yes. Unless there is some objec­
tion. I take it this has to do with the way in which 
he got up the chart. 

Mr. McGohey: Yes. It has to do with this par­
ticular exhibit which he offered in evidence, before 
I determine to make an objection to its admis,sion. 

The Court: You may do that. 

Preliminary Cross examination by llf r. M eGo hey: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, is it a fact that in taking the total 
number of persons, 418, whom you list here as jurors for 
the two panels in January and February 1940 as appear 
on Challenge Exhibit 68 for identification, you exclude cer-
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